UNDERSTANDING HOW TEXAS STATE UNIVERSITY UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS EXPERIENCE AND MANAGE STRESS:

A QUALITATIVE STUDY

by

Taylor Roberts, BS

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Council of Texas State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts with a Major in Anthropology May 2018

Committee Members:

Nicole Taylor, Chair

Emily Brunson

Jennifer Beck

COPYRIGHT

by

Taylor Roberts

2018

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgement. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Taylor Roberts, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part, for educational or scholarly purposes only.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank all of the students who participated in my research. The topic of stress is one that can be uncomfortable to talk about, especially with a stranger. However, all of the students that I had the opportunity to work with put their trust in me and opened up about some very difficult times in their lives. I know that is not an easy thing to do, but for that I am so incredibly thankful.

Second, I would like to say a huge thank you to all of my committee members. Dr. Jennifer Beck has provided me with an incredible amount of information regarding Texas State University's campus resources. She has been a huge support in helping me any way that I might need throughout my time here at Texas State, including getting everything wrapped up in time for me to graduate. Dr. Emily Brunson is the reason that I was able to attend Texas State University's Master of Arts in Anthropology program. She was the first person to give me a chance as a graduate student and for that I could not be more thankful. Dr. Brunson's feedback on my research and classwork has helped me learn so much about becoming an anthropologist. The chair of my committee, and my advisor, Dr. Nicole Taylor has been one of the biggest influences on my work here at Texas State University. Her encouragement throughout my time here made me feel so welcome and supported in this program. Dr. Taylor has consistently helped me learn and grow as a graduate student and as a researcher. Whether I needed guidance on my research, writing my thesis, or even if I just needed to talk about my long to-do list, Dr.

Taylor was always available to offer me words of wisdom and encouragement. Being able to work with her has been a highlight of my time here at Texas State.

Finally, my biggest thank you of all goes to my fiancé, Steve. From the moment he found out that I was accepted into graduate school he has been nothing but supportive. His willingness to move to Texas, with only a two months notice, meant the world to me. Steve has been my number one cheerleader from the moment I started the program here and he is constantly encouraging me to do my best. Whether I just needed to talk about the amount of work that I had to get done or if I needed someone to listen to my presentations and give me feedback, he was without a doubt the one person I could turn to. With his love and support I have achieved more than I thought possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | Page |
|---|------|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | iv |
| ABSTRACT | viii |
| CHAPTER | |
| I. INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| The Effects of Stress | 4 |
| Past Research | 6 |
| Theory | 12 |
| Methods | |
| Description of Sample | 19 |
| II. AS A COLLEGE STUDENT WHAT STRESSES YOU OUT? | 21 |
| Time Management | 21 |
| Finances | 23 |
| Schoolwork: Tests, Homework, and Projects | 26 |
| Other Major Stressors | 28 |
| Gender Differences | |
| Focus Group Results: Stress | 34 |
| III. HOW DO YOU EXPERIENCE STRESS? | 36 |
| IV. WHAT DO YOU DO TO RELIEVE YOUR STRESS? | 40 |
| Exercise | 40 |
| Talking with Friends and Family | |
| Gender Differences | |
| Focus Group Results: Stress Management | |
| V. KNOWLEDGE OF CAMPUS PROGRAMS AND RESOURCES | 48 |
| Individual Interview Results | 48 |
| Focus Group Results | |

| VI. STRESS NARRATIVES | 58 |
|---------------------------------|----|
| VII. DISCUSSION AND SUGGESTIONS | 70 |
| APPENDIX SECTION | 75 |
| REFERENCES CITED | 77 |

ABSTRACT

Stress is experienced by most individuals and throughout many different stages of life. Although stress can have positive and negative effects on individuals, the negative effects are more commonly studied with the intent of finding the best stress management techniques. Past research has shown that negative effects of stress on undergraduate students can have a significant impact in their college experience and success. However, the majority of this past research is conducted using survey methods and therefore lacks an in depth understanding of how individual students are experiencing and managing their stress throughout college. My research aims to fill in this gap with in-depth, first person accounts from students concerning their biggest stressors, stress management techniques, and knowledge of programs and resources offered through Texas State University. My research methods include interviews and a focus group with both male and female undergraduate students ages 18-23. Findings from this study will provide additional information to Texas State University administration about the stress that their students are experiencing and the extent to which campus resources are effective in helping students manage stress.

I. INTRODUCTION

Stress is something that is experienced by almost everyone during various stages of their life. The American Institute of Stress (AIS) generally defines it as, the non-specific response of the body to any demand for change (2017). Some people may be able to use the stress they experience as motivation to get through a challenging period of time. However, others may feel as though they cannot function well mentally or physically when under a great amount of stress. One difficult aspect of understanding stress is that, although some patterns can be found, individuals experience the effects of stress and manage it in many different ways. Some individuals, for example, may find relief from their stress by doing specific activities or hobbies, or even by drinking or smoking cigarettes. Therefore, stress can be a difficult subject to study in regards to finding the best stress management techniques for a diverse group of individuals.

Stress is a particular issue among young adults who are transitioning from high school into college. This phase of life can introduce many challenging lifestyle changes that may be difficult for some traditional undergraduate students to interpret and manage. Here, the term traditional undergraduate student refers to students who started college directly after graduating from high school and are between the ages of 18-23 years old.

Psychologist Jeffery Arnett coined the phrase 'emerging adulthood' to describe individuals between the ages of 18 and 24 (Arnett 2012). Arnett explains that, over time, the experiences individuals have during these specific ages of their life have changed dramatically. These changes include peoples' ideas about adulthood, ages at which individuals get married and have children, and the level of education that they obtain

(Arnett 2012). Therefore, not only are the actual experiences changing, but the way that individuals perceive this life phase is changing as well.

Arnett explains that today many individuals in this emerging adulthood phase have not yet gotten married, do not have children, or have a stable career (Arnett 2012). Role immersion, or the role demands, change greatly between emerging and young adulthood. In other words, the relationships that individuals have and the jobs that they do, are all usually temporary during the emerging adult phase (Arnett 2012). Young adulthood, according to Arnett, better refers to ages 30-45 years old (Arnett 2012). In this case, he believes that "young adulthood" implies that an individual has already completely entered into the adulthood phase of life. However, he feels that this is not really true of individuals between the ages of 18 and 24 years old. The characteristics mentioned above are a few of many that Arnett uses to explain the importance of emerging adulthood. For most students, the emerging adulthood phase consists of moving to college and experiencing an unfamiliar environment with new responsibilities. This environment can develop many new stressors in students' lives they most likely have never experienced before and don't necessarily know how to handle at first. These new stressors can include things such as moving away from home, gaining more independence, making new friends, romantic relationships, college classes, and ultimately taking on a lot of new responsibilities like managing finances.

Students across the country are reporting high levels of stress. The American College Health Association (ACHA) conducts the National College Health Assessment (NCHA), a survey sent out to undergraduate students every fall and spring. This survey provides data on how college students feel throughout the school year in relation to a

number of topics, including academics, careers, finances, sleep quality, anxiety, dieting, exercise, stress, and many more (ACHA 2017). The NCHA report released in the fall of 2016 had a total of 27,787 students that participated across the U.S. These results revealed that 43.6% of undergraduate students reported their stress levels at more than average during the last 12 months.

Students were also asked (yes or no) if a variety of topics were "traumatic or very difficult to handle" (ACHA 2017) within the last 12 months. The following are some of those topics that students were asked about and the percentage of students that reported "yes" as their answer: academics (50.1%), career issues (25.1%), family problems (29.8%), intimate relationships (31.1%) and other types of relationships (28.7%), sleep difficulties (31.2%) and finances (34.6%). Students also reported the following in regards to how they felt in the last two weeks before the survey: 58.0% reported feeling overwhelmed by everything they had to do, 55.7% felt exhausted (not from physical activity), and 29.8% felt overwhelming anxiety (ACHA 2017).

The results from the NCHA survey show that a large number of students are experiencing some sort of stress and are feeling overwhelmed throughout the school year. The topics that students responded to in this survey, such as academics, careers, finances, and relationships are the types of life changes taking place during the emerging adulthood phase Arnett refers to. He also argues that there are so many new and rich research questions to ask individuals between the ages of 18 and 24 because of the changes that have taken place in just the last half-century (Arnett 2012). Some of these changes include social norms such as when students are expected to attend college, get married, or start working. Arnett explains that research questions today should focus on attitudes and

experiences towards topics such as employment, relationships, and the fact that this age range has now become a time of exploration, rather than commitment, for many individuals (Arnett 2012). Adding this type of qualitative data to research such as the NCHA survey will allow researchers to better understand the stress that students today are experiencing during this emerging adulthood phase.

The research discussed in this paper focuses on the types of questions that Arnett considers, such as how students are experiencing and managing stress as well as the extent of their knowledge and use of resources available to them. All of the students interviewed in this study were asked to discuss their experiences transitioning into a college lifestyle, including their employment, relationships (romantic and non-romantic), family situations, academics, and finances. Although some students were hesitant to discuss certain topics, the majority of students provided substantial information regarding the difficulties of these lifestyle changes. Participants discussed how their transition into college affected them emotionally, socially, and academically. Along with gathering information regarding students' experiences with stress, I also asked questions regarding their stress management techniques and how they felt about university resources and programs to help with stress management. All of this information will be used to help Texas State University administration better understand their undergraduate student population and continue to help students succeed during what many individuals consider a stressful phase of their life.

The Effects of Stress

The American Institute of Stress (AIS) states that there is not necessarily one agreed upon definition of stress (2017). The most common definitions, however, describe

stress as a "physical, mental, or emotional strain or tension" or "a condition or feeling experienced when a person perceives that demands exceed the personal and social resources the individual is able to mobilize" (AIS 2017). People can experience stress on many different levels, including physiologically, emotionally, and socially. From a physiological perspective, stress on the human body creates a reaction from the sympathetic nervous system (Thiel 2011). Many people refer to this system as the "fightor-flight" response of the body meant to protect itself from any type of threat. In many cases, stress is perceived as a threat and therefore can cause specific symptoms within the body. Once the sympathetic nervous system reacts, releasing the hormones epinephrine and norepinephrine, the common symptoms to follow are increased heart rate, blood pressure and respiration and the dilation of blood vessels increasing blood flow to the areas of the body that need the most energy (Thiel 2011). In other words, individuals may feel that their heart is pounding harder, they may start to feel warm and sweaty, and they may also feel short of breath.

When experiencing stress, individuals may feel physical, mental or both types of symptoms. The most common physical symptoms of stress reported by individuals include fatigue, headache, upset stomach, muscle tension, change in appetite, teeth grinding, change in sex drive, and feeling dizzy (AIS 2014). Some common psychological symptoms include irritability or anger, feeling nervous, lack of energy, and feeling as though you could cry (AIS 2014). Individuals may feel all or many of these symptoms during times of stress or they may experience only a few.

At any point in someone's life, there may be enough change to cause an increase in stress. The transition into college can be especially stressful for certain individuals.

Because this age range (18-23 years) has become a time of exploration (Arnett 2012), college students are faced with many lifestyle changes that increase their stress levels more than they are used to. These changes include things such as a change in environment, living in a campus dorm room (a one-room living space), having a roommate who was most likely a stranger at first, and being away from home. Many of these changes influence what have been described as lifestyle diseases; these usually include things such as depression, anxiety, alcohol and drug abuse, and obesity, which are all enhanced as individuals stress levels rise (Boehm and Kennedy-Phillips 2016).

During college students are trying out different roles of adulthood, which according to Arnett, opens up new doors for research regarding things such as instability and identity struggles (Arnett 2012). This paper adds to these areas of research with indepth, first hand experiences of traditional undergraduate students at Texas State University. Gathering first person accounts from students regarding their experiences with stress today will allow universities to better understand how to continue to help their future students manage these changing stressors.

Past Research

Stress is a topic that has been heavily researched for many years. The majority of research that can be found on stress among undergraduates was conducted using survey methods. Surveys, or quantitative research, can be beneficial for gathering a large sample size and presenting data that is representative of the population in question. A large sample size allows researchers to have a better understanding of topics such as, what the main stressors are for a particular population or what the most common stress management techniques may be. However, these data fail to capture an individual's

experience of stress from his or her own perspective. Adding a qualitative perspective to the research that has already been done on stress will create a much more in-depth, personal understanding of how undergraduate students are experiencing stress.

One limitation of survey-based studies is that the results are based on selfreported answers from the students (Smith and Renk 2007). Although students are selfreporting during an interview as well, a researcher can gather in-depth information and pick up on physical and verbal cues from students' responses. Surveys can also create a bias where students may try to create a favorable image of them based on the variables in the study (Smith and Renk 2007). The opportunity to ask follow-up questions face-toface can provide information beyond single answered survey questions and creates less biased information. Even surveys that allow students to write a brief response do not allow for follow up questions or further discussions about what helped or deterred students concerning stress management (King, Singh, Bernard, Merianos, and Vidourek 2012). Follow up questions also allow researchers to gather information that may not have otherwise been discovered based solely on set survey questions. This produces the chance for a wider range of issues to be discovered. All of this can be beneficial when creating new programs or resources for students to better meet their needs for stress management. Therefore, using qualitative data in combination with quantitative data can provide researchers with a more accurate understanding of how an individual truly experiences stress within many different aspects of their lives.

Studies of stress vary greatly in terms of looking at different age groups, specific stressors, or stress management techniques. A study by Guo et al. (2011), for example, examined students' stress levels specifically in connection to the economic downturn in

2010 and 2011. This study revealed a significant difference only between student's grade level (Freshman, Sophomore, etc.) and their perceived economic stress (Guo et al. 2011). The authors also showed that students had an increasing stress level related to future employment opportunities, for example after graduating from college, in comparison with current employment opportunities, such as jobs that were available while they were in school.

In another study conducted in 2009, researchers sent out demographic surveys and two psychological scales for students to complete: one about life satisfaction and the second about college stress (Weinstein and Laverghetta 2009). The authors of this study reported that students' life satisfaction was inversely related to their stress and that females were more apt to report their stress than males (Weinstein and Laverghett 2009). Weinstein and Laverghetta stated that these were both key factors for university faculty and staff to understand about their students.

Other studies have considered various in regards to college students and stress: association of stress, general health, and alcohol use in relationship to sleep quality of college students (Valerio, Kim and Sexton 2015); the effects that life stress has on college student athletes (Lu, Hsu, Chan, cheen, and Kao 2012); how perceived life stress affects international students in the United States and their psychological symptoms (Duan, Ho, Siu, Li, and Zhang 2015); the behavioral health and adjustment to college of service members and veterans (Schonfeld, Braue, Stire, Gum, Cross, and Brown 2015); and how different lifestyles and health risks, such as drinking or smoking, have an effect on college students (Laska, Pasch, Lust, Story, and Ehlinger 2009).

Some of the studies mentioned above focus on the negative impacts that stress has on physical function. Valerio et al. (2015), for example, found that an increased level of stress, low general health, and frequent alcohol and cigarette use were independent predictors of sleep problems in college students (Valerio et al. 2015). The authors in this study discussed how higher levels of stress in college students, along with poor health and the increase of activities, such as drinking and smoking, (which can be responses to high stress levels) can lead to even further health problems such as trouble sleeping.

In another study, Laska et al. (2009) analyzed male and female undergraduates. For this study, both males and females were separated into four groups based on their lifestyle quality and the riskiness of their behaviors. Each group was compared with variables such as physical activity, weight control, cigarette usage, alcohol consumption, consumption of fruits and vegetables, inadequate sleep and poor stress management (Laska et al. 2009). The results showed patterning and links between a large number of these behaviors, such as consuming large amounts of alcohol, excessive smoking, or not eating healthily, and the quality of the student's lifestyle. Based on these results, the authors recommend that college campuses should offer more gender-focused programs to help these individual groups of students better manage specific stressors (Laska et al. 2009).

Yet another study showed comparable results with students most often stating that academics, familial relationships, finances, daily hassles, and social relationships were the top stressors (Brougham, Zail, Mendoza and Miller 2009). This same study found more specific stressors within these five categories to include things such as papers or assignments, getting bad grades, choosing a major, parents getting a divorce, illness of a

family member, getting into an argument with family, paying bills or having financial problems, being stuck in traffic or not being able to find a parking spot, breaking up with a girlfriend or boyfriend, and dealing with roommates or rude people (Brougham et al. 2009). These stressors can be found across much of the research that has already been done on stress and stress management among undergraduate students.

College students have also reported a variety of negative stress symptoms, both psychological and physical, in prior studies. Some of these psychological symptoms include irritability/anger, depressed mood, anxiousness/nervousness, hopelessness, concentration difficulties and social isolation (Peer, Hillman, and Hoet 2015). Other physical symptoms reported include increased heart rate, tremors, appetite changes, gastrointestinal complaints, and sleeping problems (Peer et al. 2015). Additionally, negative cognition as a result of stress can cause students to have a decreased function of their immune, endocrine and cardiovascular systems (Doom and Haeffel 2014). Doom and Haeffel also explained that negative cognition from stress can lead to negative health behaviors such as changes in diet, exercise, and cigarette smoking (Doom and Haeffel 2014).

Other studies have looked at one specific symptom, or set of symptoms, in relationship to a specific stressor among college students. Researchers have also combined symptoms of stress and how it relates to stress management techniques or coping. For example, research has been done on the relationship between students' self-esteem, stress, and physical activity (Hubbs, Doyle, E.I., Bowden, and Doyle, R.D. 2012), students' mental health in relation to the quality of their workplace relationships (Vaughn, Drake, and Haydock 2016), and trouble sleeping and specific symptoms of

depression (Brooks, Girgenti, and Mills 2009). These types of studies discovered aspects of stress among college students such as a negative correlation between stress and selfesteem for a total sample of students and among men and women separately (Hubbs et al. 2012). College students' symptoms have also been studied in relation to major events that happened, or are happening, in their lifetime such as their symptoms and emotional reaction to September 11, 2001 (Lindsey, Fugere, and Chan 2007).

Lastly, there are also a variety of stress management techniques that college students' use in attempt to relieve their stress. Some of these include, physical activity (Baghurst and Kelley 2014), thinking proactively, anticipating the stressors before they occur, contacting people in their social support network (Peer et al. 2007), negative dietary behaviors, smoking cigarettes, drinking alcohol, or behaving in other risky ways for example, risky sexual behavior and driving drunk (Laska et al 2009). Other stress management techniques among college students include listening to music, running or exercising, talking or calling someone to vent, taking deep breaths, stretching, praying, imagining something pleasant, meditating, and counting to ten (King et al. 2012).

The given examples have been published in journals among a variety of disciplines including psychology, education, and health journals. As these many examples demonstrate, stress is experienced in diverse ways and not everyone manages it in the same way. The major gap in stress research among college students is the lack of qualitative data. The majority of information researchers have is based on survey methods and students' self scored answers from given scales regarding general stress levels or life satisfaction. This gap is significant when trying to understand students' experience of stress in terms of classes, finances, family relationships, or their social life.

The other gap in a lot of the research cited is the lack of male participants in studies. Having a much greater number of female students than male students in a study can greatly skew the knowledge gained from that data in terms of how a sample of students experiences stress. This can also make it difficult to find a reason for certain gender differences that appear in research concerning stressors or stress management techniques. The research that is presented in this paper attempts to add to these gaps by providing indepth qualitative data and drawing from a balanced sample of both males and females.

Theory

There are many anthropologists who have studied topics using narrative analysis. The idea of narrative analysis is that the stories people tell can provide a medium through which researchers can learn and understand other individuals' experiences that the researcher has not lived through (Mattingly and Garro 2000). As Mattingly and Garro explain, using narrative analysis as a theoretical approach to research allows researchers to obtain a broader context for trying to determine what was happening at that particular time or place (Mattingly and Garro 2000).

Many areas of cultural anthropology involve gathering information, or stories, from individuals regarding their experiences and details about their culture. As anthropologists began using narrative as a theoretical viewpoint they drew from many different disciplines including linguistics, history, and psychology, to examine narrative as a communicative act (Mattingly and Garro 2000). In other words, they were using narrative to examine the relationship between how individuals told their stories and the content, or cultural knowledge within them (Mattingly and Garro 2000).

Catherine Riessmann, a sociology professor who became known for her writings on narrative analysis, explained that during an interview individuals attempt to convince the listener that certain events happened at a point in time and that it affected him or her in a specific way (Riessmann 1990). She argues that it is important to observe the "how" of the telling and not just the "what" (Riessmann 1990). In other words, how is the individual telling the story and how are they describing themselves, and others, within it? This idea ties into that of Erving Goffman's when he explains that the storytellers can be viewed as "animators" (Ochs and Capps 2001). By this he means that the storytellers will use communicative resources such as talk, print, visual representative, gesture, body orientation, movement and facial expression to explain what their position was during an event and how they felt at that moment (Ochs and Capps 2001).

For my research, it was important for me to use narrative as a theoretical lens because my goal was to understand not just what stressed students out, but how they specifically experienced stress and what it felt like from their perspective. My goal was to uncover in-depth description of their feelings and emotions during particularly stressful situations. Along with this, I wanted to try to understand how each individual's experience with stress might fit in with the culture of Texas State University. In other words, I wanted to see if there were patterns in how students experience and manage their stress in order to help the university administration better understand how students are interacting with their campus specifically and know if changes need to be made in the future.

Narrative has been described as "a fundamental human way to give meanings to experience" (Mattingly and Garro 2000). Although anthropologists are accustomed to

gathering stories from individuals and analyzing them (Mattingly and Garro 2000), the important aspect of narrative analysis is to understand the event within the framework of an individuals' identity. Based on scholarly research, Bucholtz and Hall define identity as "the social positioning of self and other" (2005). In their article "Identity and Interaction: a sociocultural linguistic approach" they focus on fundamental aspects of studying identity with the goal of creating a model that incorporates both current research at the time and possible new directions (Bucholtz and Hall 2005).

Bucholtz and Hall discuss five important principles of studying identity. These are emergence, positionality, indexcality, relationality, and partialness. Emergence is based on the idea that identity is located within the mind of an individual (2005). However, Bucholtz and Hall argue that identity emerges not necessarily from within the mind, but from the specific conditions of linguistic interactions and therefore, is a social, cultural phenomenon (2005). Positionality refers to an individual's identity and how it is shaped as they move between moments. Bucholtz and Hall believe identity in this sense includes macro-level demographic categories, local or cultural positions, and also temporary roles and stances an individual may occupy (2005). Indexicality refers to the links between the linguistic form of identities and the social meanings. It is important to understand that these ideological structures of identity are rooted in cultural beliefs and values (Bucholtz and Hall 2005). The relationality principle emphasizes that identities are never independent but always have a social meaning in relation to other identities around them (Bucholtz and Hall 2005). The fifth and final principle that Bucholtz and Hall discuss is that of partialness. By this they mean that any formation of a given identity is only a small portion of a much larger picture. Therefore, Bucholtz and Hall believe that it is

something that continuously shifts through different contexts and as different interactions occur (2005).

Using narrative as a theoretical approach allows researchers to decode and reframe the past in order to make sense of the present and provide a direction for the future (Mattingly and Garro 2000). During my analysis it was important to observe individuals' identity throughout each interview and keep in mind Bucholtz and Hall's idea that identity emerges from interactions and is therefore a social and cultural phenomenon (2005). This aspect specifically draws on the importance of my research to not only add knowledge about stress to the field of cultural and medical anthropology, but also to Texas State University and their understanding of how students are interacting with their campus.

The last theoretical viewpoint that I used for my research is idioms of distress. Mark and Mimi Nichter have both been known to draw on the concept idioms of distress in their research. Mark Nichter describes this theory as a "socially and culturally resonant means of experiencing and expressing distress in local worlds" (Nichter 2010). In other words, idioms of distress can be seen as actions people take or words and phrases that signal the fact that they are in distress. An excellent example of this is Mimi Nichter's book "Fat Talk". In this book, Mimi Nichter discussed her research on body image and how young girls talked about weight and dieting. She explained that one girl would use the phrase "I'm so fat" to let her friends know that she was feeling stressed or out of control (Nichter 2000). In this example, the phrase "I'm so fat" was an idiom of distress. In other cases girls used the phrase right before eating something unhealthy in the cafeteria line (Nichter 2000). Mimi also gives a nonverbal example in her book "Lighting"

Up". In this book she describes smoking on college campuses and the idea that some students would use smoking to indicate that they were feeling stressed out (Nichter 2015). She determined this as an idiom of distress signaling a variety of feelings including the implication that the individual wanted to be alone, that they wanted comfort from others, or that some individuals were upset with their significant other (Nichter 2015).

Idioms of distress are used as signals to others that an individual is feeling anger, powerlessness, or anxiety (Nichter 2010). Mark Nichter also states that they can be culturally or interpersonally effective ways of expressing distress to others and may also be ways to cope (2010). In other words, identifying idioms of distress can help researchers better understand how a specific group of individuals experience certain aspects of life. It can also provide more detailed information about a particular culture or subculture.

My goal with this research was to help Texas State University begin to understand students better in terms of their experiences with stress and stress management. To do this, I provide more in-depth information directly from students themselves. My research dose not solve the issue of fully understanding the many ways that students experience stress or what may be the best way to help with stress management. However, my findings offer additional insight into the students' lives that can inform the university about students' stressors specifically associated with Texas State and raise additional questions for further study.

Methods

My research focuses on undergraduate students at Texas State University. I conducted this research throughout the summer and fall of 2017. The main research questions that I studied were the following. What are the major stressors that students experience throughout college? What strategies do they use to cope? Are students aware of the programs and resources that are offered on campus; if so, how often do they use them and are they beneficial?

To recruit students for my study I posted flyers around campus, and I also did classroom announcements with the permission of the professor. I placed 30 flyers in buildings and areas of campus where there would be a larger flow of students during the summer, and I conducted approximately 26 classroom announcements. All of the students that contacted me reported hearing about my study in a classroom announcement.

I recruited both male and female traditional undergraduates. In this case, I refer to traditional students as those who came to college directly after graduating from high school and were between the ages of 18 and 23 years old. I chose this group of students so that I could focus on individuals who have experienced similar aspects of the college transition so far. Graduate students, for example, may have very different stressors than undergraduate students. During my classroom announcements I recruited for both one-on-one interviews and focus groups. From these I recruited 10 females and 10 males for individual interviews. I was also able to recruit 5 individuals for a focus group. This focus group was made up of 3 males and 2 females. For the one-on-one interviews I developed an open-ended interview questionnaire consisting of 16 questions. Many of

these questions were also used during the focus group along with some more detailed questions based on the information I gathered from individual interviews.

All of the questions that I asked during the one-on-one interviews were based on my three main research questions. I focused on topics such as students' transition into college, what stresses them out, how they feel mentally and physically when they are feeling stressed out, what their main ways of relieving stress were, and whether or not they had ever participated in any of the programs and resources offered on campus to help with stress management. For the focus group questions further explored some of the themes that emerged during the one-on-one interviews. For example, I informed the focus group of themes that I found regarding differences between stressors for males and females. After providing them with this information, I asked for their thoughts and interpretation as to why I may be seeing these specific gendered patterns.

Each student also filled out a one-page demographic survey. This allowed me to have a better understanding of the sample of students I recruited in comparison to the general population of students at Texas State University. This survey included questions regarding their age, ethnicity, level in school (freshman, sophomore, junior, senior), employment status, financial help from family or financial aid, and relationship status. All students involved in in this study signed a consent form with information about campus services including the counseling center. This was to assure that if the interview became stressful for any individual, he or she was aware of a location on campus where they could receive help.

I recorded the audio for all of the interviews and the focus group, then transcribed and coded them to look for emergent themes. I chose to transcribe my interviews so that I

would be able to more closely examine the data. Along with this, I wanted to be sure that I fully understood what each individual was saying and did not unintentionally take anything out of context. Coding each interview allowed me to more easily locate specific topics during my analysis and helped to reveal patterns and themes throughout all of my data. To do this, I carefully read through each transcribed interview and looked for answers concerning my main research questions. As I began to find themes I was able to decide on a list of codes that I could use throughout all of my interviews. In terms of themes, I looked for patterns among what students described as common stressors, symptoms of stress and ways that they relieved their stress (including whether or not they participated in university programs and resources). However, I also looked for possible emerging themes among how individual students perceived themselves and others around them during times of elevated stress levels.

Throughout my analysis of the 20 interviews that I conducted, there were very clear themes that emerged regarding the largest stressors for students here at Texas State University. The sample of students that I recruited was fairly diverse, though it was not enough to be able to make comparisons across ethnicities. However, having a balanced sample of 10 males and 10 females, I was able to look at the emerging patterns of stressors in terms of gender differences. These gender differences are discussed where they emerge within each findings section.

Description of Sample

Texas State University had a total of 38,694 students as of fall 2017. Of those, 34,206 students are undergraduates (TXST University Marketing 2017) and almost 7,000 of those students live on campus. About 58% of the student population is female and 42%

is male. In terms of ethnicity, 47% of the student population is white, 36% is Hispanic, 11% is African American and 5% is other. In total, over half of the Texas State student population are racial or ethnic minorities (52%) (TXST 2017).

I individually interviewed a total of 20 undergraduate students at Texas State

University (10 females and 10 males). All of the participants ranged in age from 18 to 23

years old. Of all 20 students, one was 18, four were 19, four were 20, six were 21, one

was 22, and four were 23. There was one freshman, two sophomores, seven juniors, and

10 seniors. As a note, I asked them what year they were based on credit. Therefore, some

of the students were only 20 years old, but were at a junior status. I was also able to

recruit a diverse sample in terms of students' ethnicity. About 55% of the students in my

sample were white, 5% were Black or African American, 25% were Hispanic or Latino/a,

10% were Asian/Chinese, and 5% were other. The majority of students that I interviewed

lived in an apartment complex off campus. Only two students were living on campus in

the dorms.

II. AS A COLLEGE STUDENT WHAT STRESSES YOU OUT?

During the individual interviews I asked students open-endedly what stressed them out as a college student. From the 20 students that I interviewed, there were a total of 25 different stressors that were reported. The top three stressors among this sample of students were time management, finances, and schoolwork (specifically tests, homework, and group projects). These three stressors were each mentioned a total of 8 times making them the most common stressors to come up during the interviews. The next most common stressors included maintaining grades or overall GPA, trying to meet high selfexpectations, social life (including both romantic relationships and friendships), school deadlines, family troubles, having more responsibilities, having a job, struggling with classes, and the pressure of deciding on a future career. All of these listed stressors were mentioned at least three times among all of the interviews conducted. Other stressors that were outliers, or only mentioned by one or two students, included social anxiety, trusting other people, pressure from family members, being independent, having a medical condition (specifically in this study ADHD and Asperger's Syndrome), being involved in extracurricular activities, being a people pleaser, trying to take advantage of all the opportunities available on campus, being involved in a sport, rushing for a fraternity, the bus system or the commute to campus, and being a woman on campus (specifically the fear of doing things alone or at night).

Time Management

Any time that a student reported feeling stressed about managing their time between different aspects of their lives I labeled this as time management. For example, some students reported that they struggled with managing time between school and their

job or school and spending time with their friends. When asked what stressed him out as a college student Sean, a 20 year old senior replied "the juggling aspect of it...you have all of your friends asking if you want to hang out, or go out and party...and then also having to tell them no, that you need to stay in and study or do something specific...that's pretty stressful". Students who felt that this was stressful often stated that it was hard to tell their friends "no" as in Sean's case, or they found it difficult knowing that their friends were out doing fun things and they had to stay in and study.

Other students felt that it was difficult to manage their time between school and their job. When I asked Sarah, a 22-year-old junior, what the most stressful thing regarding time management was she replied, "maybe working so much or having to focus on work instead of school at times. Like, for example, today instead of being able to go to Alkek (the campus library) and study, I have to go to work". Other students felt this way too regarding the amount of time that they spent at work versus finding time to study. Erica, a 19-year-old sophomore, explained what her normal schedule was like during the week when I asked her what her biggest stressor was:

Definitely my job...it's a little hectic at times. Mostly putting towards that is time management. Like, now I go to class 8 until noon and then I have to do my work between noon and 5 because I have to go to sleep because I work nights. Like, from 10pm to 3am...and then you have to drag yourself out of bed and yeah...but I mean, that's probably the most stressful right now.

Out of all 20 students that I spoke with, 15 of them were employed full-time, part-time, or seasonally during the school year. Like Erica, many of the students do not always feel that they are getting enough time to study and do homework around their work schedule. In many cases, this can also take away from the amount of sleep they get each night or time spent doing other leisurely activities that they enjoy.

Another aspect of time management that students mentioned was struggling to simply keep up with everything they had to do throughout each week. Tyler, who is a 21-year-old senior and athlete, explained how he feels when he has multiple things going on at once:

It's usually, I have a mindset like, I have to study for this test, but I need to go to sleep early cause I have to wake up early in the morning and run in the morning. But, if I sleep in, in the morning, it's like, oh now I gotta do my run at night. I also need to be studying for the test too. But it's just, I get kind of discombobulated I guess. And it's just like, I need to do all these things. But, if I slip up on one it's just, it goes downhill from there.

It was clear to me that many students felt very overwhelmed in terms of feeling as though they do not have enough time to accomplish everything they need, and want, to do throughout the day or week.

Finances

Aspects of struggling with finances were brought up during 8 out of the 20 interviews I conducted. These different aspects included budgeting without the help of a parent, having to work a lot of hours to make enough money, and even being able to afford enough meals until their next paycheck or financial aid disbursement. It was clear that no matter what aspect of finances was a struggle, each student that mentioned it as a stressor felt that it was one of the biggest stressors since they started college.

When I asked Sean, who was mentioned earlier, if there was anything else that really stressed him out he explained, "it was a maturity thing". When I asked him to explain what he meant by this he told me:

Well, I mean...there's a lot more financial freedom that you have to deal with in college so, I guess doing the "adulting"...having to pay your taxes, getting your water bill on time, not spending your money on pot or alcohol so you can actually pay for food and pay

for nice food that's healthy that's gonna fuel you better than just junk food, which is easy.

As Sean demonstrates here, it is a dramatic change in lifestyle when students move out of their parents' home and are on their own for the first time. This transition suddenly changed Sean's idea of his own identity from being at home to having to take on more aspects of an adult role. Although it may be nice to have that freedom, his discussion of maturity shows his realization of now seeing himself as an adult on his own. In many cases, students like Sean may not have had any experience with managing their money on their own so they may experience much more of a shock when having to suddenly focus on money along with school. This ultimately affects other aspects of students' life, like staying healthy, in terms of what types of food they buy and how much they eat as Sean mentioned.

Nicole, a 19-year-old freshman, told me a lot about her financial situation and the trouble with her tuition. In Nicole's case, her father pays for her tuition. However, other factors, including family troubles such as divorce, affected her financial help from him, which in turn caused her stress level to rise throughout the semester. For example, she explained to me her current financial situation as she was trying to prepare for the spring semester:

The other thing that happens is, I am now kind of in a financial bind. My college is kind of being paid for by my dad. He actually didn't take out enough loans though and refuses to get on the phone so I can talk about filing for financial aid for next year...so that's extremely stressful, to know that my future for being able to pay for college is uncertain and the fact that my spring semester isn't even paid for and that thanks to [my dad] I have holds on my account so I can't register for classes for the spring semester.

In comparison to Sean's description of his financial problems caused by being on his own, Nicole explains her situation as being very dependent on her family still. Although she has more freedom than when she lived at home, not having money provided for her by her family holds her back from buying things throughout the semester. She told me more later on in the interview about her struggle with making her money last each month just for food. Nicole identifies herself as still being very dependent on her family, which is causing a lot of her stress.

Other students may have very little or no financial help from parents. This can have an even bigger impact on how students handle school and the amount of stress they endure throughout the year. For example, Elizabeth, a 20-year-old junior, told me about her stressful financial situation since she transferred to Texas State University and no longer had help from her parents:

Because my parents don't cover anything so it's like I have to pay for my student fees and then I had to go to the clinic the other day and I owe like, another sum of money for that. And then, I didn't think it was going to be that much but it was; it was a crazy amount. And then having to pay my rent obviously and the stuff that my FAFSA didn't cover, it's all due in November...and then groceries you know.

Although 17 out of 20 students said that they received financial support from their parents or guardians, only 3 students specified that their parents paid for all of their expenses. For those students who don't receive financial help with everything, this leaves many costs up to the student themselves, including anything extra they may want to do for fun like going out with their friends or spending money on hobbies.

Schoolwork: Tests, Homework, and Projects

The third stressor that was most common was a combination of preparing for and taking tests, keeping up with homework, and completing assignments, such as group projects. I included all of these three categories under schoolwork since they all indicated stress caused by work that was assigned in classes. These topics were also sometimes brought up in terms of time management. However, I only included them under schoolwork when the student specifically mentioned aspects of the work that stressed them out and did not discuss it in terms of managing their time. When it came to homework, many of the students stated that it was simply stressful with the number of assignments that were given and making sure that they were keeping up with them. This is something that did not necessarily cause extremely high levels of stress in students but did seem to cause a continuous low level of stress throughout the semester.

Tests and finals, although occurring less often than homework, caused a much higher level of stress among students. Tim, who is 19 years old, told me right away that finals, group projects, and presentations stressed him out. When I asked him why finals were such a huge stressor for him, he explained:

The fact that it encompasses the entire semester. So, it's like sixteen weeks worth of material that I have to make sure I know. And some of it is the stuff that has been previously covered earlier in the semester. It's still scary to go back to because I don't remember how much I understand or if I forgot anything. And then there's also new content which, if I'm still struggling to understand that then it's also difficult to be able to go back and review what is supposed to be already established.

Other students who experienced stress due to tests, homework or projects did so because of the influence it had on their overall grade in the course. Zach, 20 years old, explained

how stressful the exams in his department were because of when they occurred and how much they influence his overall grade:

The way that the department has it set up here is every exam happens...pretty much within that one week. And it's a significant portion of your grade because they know that cheating on homework and projects and things is totally possible...so they need something that is quantifiable and in a controlled environment, which is the tests. So for example...[in one of my classes] each of those tests was worth a massive portion of the overall grade. And the final was worth 35%. So, if you failed the final, you failed the course. That's a pretty stressful test.

Throughout my interview with Zach, it was very clear to me that he was a student who worked extremely hard throughout the school year. He was very motivated by his major in engineering and spoke with a lot of excitement about his hobbies, which usually included building things. Zach seemed to put a large emphasis on how important his test grades were to him, not just to feel good about his work, but how his grades contributed to his future career path. Although having all of the tests in one week was very stressful, the amount of weight that each grade had on Zach's class grade and his future, played a large part in affecting his stress level as well.

In regards to working on group projects Jacob, who is 21 years old, told me that "when you're depending on other people to kind of hold up their end and you can kind of see that they may not be putting as much effort as they should be, that's pretty stressful if you are the person who is putting in effort". Tim, quoted just earlier, also told me that group projects were a stressor. When I asked him to explain to me why they were such a huge stressor he explained that "[he hates] being in front of a group of people and having to talk. And when it's an entire classroom it makes it even worse". The stress students felt from group projects was usually caused by either having to work with other students or

having to present in front of a large crowd. These were not necessarily long lasting stressors, but they did cause a period of much higher stress than normal for the students who mentioned group projects as a stressor.

Other Major Stressors

Although time management, finances, and schoolwork were the top three themes that emerged from my interviews, there were a few other stressors that followed closely. Out of the 20 interviews, 7 students specifically stated that maintaining their GPA and grades was a major stressor. Close behind this were students having high self-expectations for themselves to do well, which was mentioned by 6 participants and also social life, which was mentioned by 5. Although these three reported stressors did not appear as often as the top three, they are important to mention because they appeared in at least 25% of the interviews.

For some students, it was clear that their stress emerged from a combination of social life, maintaining grades, and having high self-expectations. For example Shelby, a 19-year-old sophomore who was taking summer classes at the time, told me that grades really stressed her out. When I asked her what the most stressful thing about grades was, she replied, "getting the 4.0". She told me:

Right now, thankfully, I have it...but, you know, it's scary. Like right now I'm worried about getting a 4.0 in this [class] because I took two classes this summer session...and I've never taken a summer class before...so that's a little worrisome. I have a test tomorrow so, it's just...I'm a perfectionist so it's not so much, you know, I know everything's gonna be okay if I don't have a 4.0 anymore or if I get a B, but it's the making sure that I'm trying my best and doing my best...I don't want to half-ass anything, you know what I mean?...I gotta make sure that I'm giving it my all. So, that's the part that kind of stresses me out the most...that's something that I put on myself.

More often than not, when a student spoke to me about stress caused by trying to maintain their GPA or get good grades, it ended with them telling me about the high expectations they hold for themselves. Only two out of the six individuals who talked about maintaining their grades stated that the stress resulted from their parents pushing them to do well. Overall, there was a total of 6 individuals that discussed the high expectations they set for themselves in terms of academics or other aspects of college. Norah, a 21-year-old senior, explained her biggest stressor as a college student and where it stemmed from:

I think I put a lot of pressure on myself. So, it's very like, self inflicted pressure to succeed. I think it has to stem from like, being in high school my only form of validation that I was successful or doing something right was academics. That's the only thing that I got that from. And so, I think I have honestly just, kind of stuck to that as a form of, I don't know, self-validation.

Finally, five students described social life as a stressor. For these students, this referred to having to tell friends "no" when they wanted to go do other things besides study, difficulties in their friendships or romantic relationships, and taking on problems that their friends are going through. Shelby, who was mentioned earlier, also told me about her stress regarding her friend group. She said:

I really have to evaluate who I want in my life and who I don't want. You know, I had some stress, where I was like, okay I have to let these people go who don't really understand...I'm here, you know, to not only be successful but, you know, to hopefully make a positive impact in people's lives, which is a huge thing of mine. And so, I really had to re-evaluate some friendships. Like, especially this past semester cause I was pretty busy and some people just don't understand. So, that was a little stressful.

As this example illustrates, learning to be independent for the first time, figuring out what career to pursue, and trying to do well can all be more difficult to handle when students

feel as though they have friends who are not supportive or understanding. Shelby's comment shows one aspect of how a student's social life can cause stress during the school year. Another aspect of this is seen in Emily's case. Emily is a 20-year-old junior and she told me that her friends and roommates can cause her a lot of stress. When I asked her why this was, she replied:

I guess a lot of different things. Like, I have a friend now, it's actually my closest friend, she just, I feel like she likes to put her problems on me all the time. And I'm the type of person that will take that on. So, that's kind of a big stressor for me.

Both Emily and Shelby's experience with their friends reflects difficulties regarding their interactions with their friend groups. Shelby felt as though her friends were not being supportive enough or understanding of her schedule and her goals as a student here at Texas State. In Emily's case, it seems as though she is the supportive one when her closest friend is going through tough times. However, taking on someone else's stress, as Emily discussed, is starting to have an effect on her own stress levels.

During the course of the interview I also asked students how they felt about specifically about social media. None of the students had previously mentioned social media during their interviews. However, when asked directly, 12 of the 20 students told me that social media could definitely be a stressor at times. The remaining students said that they usually used social media as a stress reliever or they did not really use it all.

Of the 12 students that felt social media could sometimes be a stressor, 9 of them explained that it was the content that caused them to become stressed. Some examples of this include students becoming frustrated by what others are posting, feeling a lower self-esteem based on what others are saying or doing, taking on the stress others are experiencing such as family members, dwelling on things that other people have said,

seeing mean posts, becoming jealous of what other people were doing (traveling, being out at the bar, etc.), and feeling that there were high social expectations regarding how your life should be in college. The other two students who felt that social media could be an added stressor explained that it was not the content that bothered them, but it was simply something that distracted them from their work.

More of the female students that were interviewed reacted to what people were posting about how they should act or feel about themselves, ultimately ending in jealousy or a lower self-esteem. Bethany, for example, explained to me that social media could definitely be a stressor for her throughout the school year.

But, for social media and stress, it is a huge stressor because, not only do I see people out having fun and of course like, I'm happy for you, but then I'm like, why wasn't I invited or, you know what I mean? And so then, or then I'm like, oh, well I don't have money to go to Europe, you know. When everyone else is studying abroad...Because then it makes me think that, you know, I'm not as cool cause I'm not going and doing all these fun things, you know. And so...it's definitely a downer on my self-esteem. Which causes stress.

In this quote, Bethany's stress first stemmed from not being invited out to do the things that her friends were. However, as she continued to talk about social media she began to show that she began to feel down about things like how much money she had or her appearance simply because she was not able to go on these trips or study abroad. Just being able to see pictures or comments from other students on social media would cause stress in Bethany's life.

Elizabeth explained to me why exactly she thought both the media in general and social media sites were such a large stressor for her in college.

I think a lot of it how we're supposed to like, live our college years and whenever we're not able to I feel like that is stressful. Because you want to be able to make them as big as you possibly can and as fun as possible. But like, whenever you're not having that, like you have a picture perfect way of how college should be and whenever it's not it's like oh, it should be this way, it's a notion of how you want it to be but it's not because of how media perceives it...you want to be like that...I feel like Snapchat is a big stressor. You can always see when people open it...and whenever you check your memories you see everyone is out doing something or doing something productive and you're at home studying and you're like, oh I want to go out with them. And then definitely Instagram as well because everything looks so perfect. I have a lot of people who travel or studying abroad right now and it's kind of like oh. I'm working and then doing school and trying to make rent and they get to do all this crazy fun stuff and it's like, I don't.

For Elizabeth, the way that life was portrayed in the media and on social media sites was a huge influence regarding how she felt about herself or expectations of what her college years were supposed to be like. She explained that things looked "perfect" on social media. This ultimately influenced the way that she felt in regards to the things that she was not able to do but her friends were. Seeing other students traveling or doing all of these things outside of schoolwork seemed to cause a lot of stress and self-doubt.

Overall, it can be difficult for universities to help students with stress caused by social media. With the numerous social media sites that are out there and the ability for anyone to post anything, this may be something that is hard to reduce, especially as technology continues to advance. However, I still think that it is important to understand what it is about the social media sites that are the root of students' stress. Understanding where their stress comes from may help to incorporate some sort of media literacy program to help them learn to think about what people post in different ways, or techniques to reduce the stress caused by social media in general. This could ultimately

raise awareness to the issue by informing students about how social media can become a stressor.

Gender Differences

Although each student was asked openly, what stressed him or her out, time management was reported as a stressor by 8 out of 20 students interviewed. Of those, 4 of them were female and 4 of them were male. There appeared to be no gender differences regarding how students' experienced time management. This was the same outcome in regards to finances. There were both 4 males and 4 females that discussed their struggle with money. However, the third most common stressor, schoolwork, differed greatly. Of the 8 students that reported this as a stressor, 7 were male. A gender difference also emerged in regards to social life as a stressor. There were a total of 5 students that reported aspects of their social life as stressors. However, 4 out of 5 of these students were female.

These gender differences do not necessarily mean that male and female students experience stress from completely different things. However, this data reveals that male and female students are experiencing stress in different ways in terms of what they consider their biggest stressors. Although there were similarities between the stressors mentioned by male and female participants, schoolwork was more often mentioned by males, whereas females more often mentioned aspects of social life.

Of the 12 students that said social media could sometimes cause stress, 7 of these were female and 5 were male. Therefore, I do not feel that there were any drastic gender differences regarding whether or not females or males experience stress from social

media in general. However, of the 9 individuals who said that it was the content that stressed them out, 6 of these were female students and only 3 of them were male.

Overall, it can be difficult for universities to help students with stress caused by social media. With the numerous social media sites that are out there and the ability for anyone to post anything, this may be something that is hard to reduce, especially as technology continues to advance. However, it is important to understand what it is about the social media sites that are the root of students' stress. Understanding where their stress comes from may help to incorporate some sort of media literacy program to help them learn to think about what people post in different ways, or techniques to reduce the stress caused by social media in general. This could ultimately raise awareness to the issue by informing students about how social media can become a stressor.

Focus Group Results: Stress

The focus group that I conducted had a total of 5 students and it was conducted during the first month of the fall semester. There were two females and three males. When I started the focus group I asked each student to write down on sticky notes everything that came to mind when I said the word 'stress'. This resulted in five main categories that the students arranged, and titled, themselves out of their combined sticky notes. The five categories included "education", "adulating", "family", "emotions or feelings", and "binge eating". Education included words and phrases such as time management, school, homework, exams, procrastination, and the library stairs on campus. In regards to the last stressor mentioned, a few of the students experienced stress from the amount of stairs on campus they had to climb throughout the day, specifically the ones leading up to the library. Adulting meaning things associated with growing up or

being an adult, was the title given to things such as job, insurance of any kind, and money. The students felt that things such as parents and relationships went together under the title "family" and lastly, the title "emotions and feelings" included things like sad, mad, no sleep, tired, and depressed.

Having the students write down and arrange their thoughts about stress helped to start a more comfortable discussion regarding how they experienced stress. After this I asked the five students to tell me what they considered to be their biggest stressors as college students. In response to this I received a total of 9 stressors that these five students felt affected them the most. These 9 stressors included tests, the feeling of everything having to be done at once, deadlines, group projects, balance, transitioning, parking on campus, time management, the food offered on campus and how busy the dining halls would get. Although there were a few differences in the stressors reported by the students in the focus group versus the individual interviews, there is some overlap concerning what all of the students in this research considered stressors as a college student.

III. HOW DO YOU EXPERIENCE STRESS?

Along with learning about the different types of stressors that students experienced, I wanted to understand how stress affected them both physically and psychologically. In order to do this I asked each student how they experienced stress within their body. I further broke this down by asking specifically how their body felt physically and what their mind felt like during stressful situations.

Asking these questions resulted in a total of 32 different physical symptoms and 24 different psychological symptoms from all 20 interviews. Most students mentioned two or three different symptoms that they experienced during stressful situations throughout the school year. The most common physical symptom, mentioned 6 times, was muscle tension throughout the body. Some of the other symptoms mentioned by multiple students were shaking or fidgeting, headaches, stomach aches, increased heart rate, sweating, fatigue, nausea, feeling anxious, pressure, stuttering, neck and shoulder pain, and stress hives. These students described their muscle tension in different locations of their body, including their neck and shoulders to their back. Asking students how the stress felt in their body or in their mind usually resulted in a short list of different symptoms that they experienced. For example, Erica tried to explain what her body felt like when she became very stressed at work.

I don't know how to explain it. Like, if one thing's not working correctly then a lot of other things fail. So, when my muscles tense up I don't type as fast or I'm worried about other things so it's also a lot of mental. Like, man I really need to get this correct and when you mess up it's just a-whole-nother chain so, it starts from the tense muscles, to the increase heart rate and sometimes sweating and you know, it's just, it goes from one to ten so fast.

For Erica it seemed like there was a quick build up to feeling one symptom and then the next. She felt like once she started feeling one symptom she knew the rest of her body would feel off, or not normal, as long as she was stressed. Another student, Seth also felt the muscle tension whenever he became stressed out.

I mean anxiety. Clenched teeth. That's my new thing is, I've noticed that a lot. You know, just feeling anger. It's a lot, I don't know, let's see what else...Just tense, you know, my whole body, my muscles are just sore the next morning just from being all tense...I don't know how you describe it other than just, it's all pent up, you know.

Here, Seth talked about how his body felt after the stress decreased as well. Although, he would feel tense during a stressful situation, he may not have noticed how drastic it was until he woke up the next morning and his whole body was sore. In Seth's case, his stress had a longer lasting affect on his body than just during a stressful moment.

The most common psychological symptom, also mentioned 6 times, was the feeling of too much going on in your mind. Other psychological symptoms mentioned by at least two people include having a hard time focusing, confusion, trouble sleeping, and a feeling of wanting to just run away from the situation completely. Although many of these students knew that their mind felt busy or that they felt confused, it was a little more challenging for some of them to describe how they felt psychologically during stressful moments.

When I asked Sarah how stress felt in her body, she gave me a list of symptoms that were common to her. She laughed a little and told me, "I just start feeling very tense and just, agitated. It's hard for me to focus and I start getting very quiet and I'm usually not the quietest person in the room." While Sarah did mention a few physical symptoms like stomach aches, migraines and even stress hives, I asked her if she could explain to

me more what it felt like in her mind, drawing the conversation back to her comment about feeling agitated. She said, "I can't get anything done in that moment, or that I have to run away. Even if it's from nothing, it feels that way, like I have to run away, which is a very odd feeling." As Sarah explained to me what it was like when this her stress levels rose it was very clear to me that scratching her wrists or tugging at her sleeves had become an idiom of distress for her. When she started doing this, it registered in her own mind that she was stressed out more than normal. However, when becoming agitated and losing focus, it was difficult for her to think of ways to relieve her stress, resulting in a feeling of wanting to run away.

Nicole, whose main stressor throughout the interview was her finances and disagreements with her family, told me that her anxiety could get very intense at times. When I asked her how her stress felt in her mind she responded using an interesting comparison. She explained,

"Running thoughts. I have described it before as you have a clogged sink but you turn the faucet on full blast. You know? You don't have the capacity to even deal with the thoughts that might already be there, you're already blocked up and then you start all of a sudden gushing everything in and then it starts pouring out. And when it's pouring out that's really when the stress starts to manifest and you start feeling ill. Cause there's a capacity you can take but if you can't drain it, you'll flood."

Nicole's description of how her stress manifested encompasses how many of the students seemed to feel as their stress started to elevate over a period of time. It is important to realize that students like Nicole are experiencing high stress levels that can result in negative physical and psychological symptoms. Although some of these symptoms are normal or may not reach a level of concern, it is important to note that once many

students reach high levels of stress they may not have a plan for how to relieve that stress to bring their body back to a level of feeling secure.

Unlike my results regarding student's most common causes of stress, there were no gender differences among the responses for how student's felt physically and psychologically during stressful situations. Although some symptoms were talked about much more often than others, male and female students seem to generally experience stress in a similar way when it comes to the affects on their bodies and minds.

IV. WHAT DO YOU DO TO RELIEVE YOUR STRESS?

The second important aspect of this research was to understand how students manage their stress throughout the school year. To do this, I asked each student what he or she did in different situations when they started feeling stressed out. Similar as to when I asked each student about their stressors, this question usually generated a list of different strategies that each individual used when they felt stressed. The two most common stress management techniques that emerged included exercising and talking or spending time with friends or family. Out of the 20 interviews, 13 individuals mentioned some type of exercise as a stress management technique that they either currently used or had used since they started college at Texas State University. Of those 13 students, 8 of them were male and 5 of them were female. Talking or spending time with friends and family was mentioned by 7 of the students. Only 2 of those 7 students were male. The remaining 5 were female. These were the two stress management techniques that were mentioned the most, although there were several others that were brought up as well.

Exercise

Exercises mentioned by students included running, resistance training, walking, and yoga. Of these, the most common were running or walking. Many of the students that used exercise as a stress reliever stated that this was usually one of the best ways to help bring their stress levels down. In some cases students felt that it was something that would keep their mind off of whatever was stressing them out. Others explained that exercising made them feel relaxed or exhausted so that they did not have the energy to stress about anything. For example, when I asked Timothy how he relieved his stress his first response was the following:

Well, I go running. That helps. I'll run a few miles. I mean, it keeps the body healthy and all that and whatnot. But, running really helps reduce the tension in my muscles I feel at times. So, after running I'll feel tired but I'll still feel really relaxed and my head is clear and all that stuff...it's something I really try to hammer into my schedule so that once I am stressed, the first thing that comes to my mind is, I'll just go running. Instead of binge eating or chain smoking.

Timothy explains that although exercising makes his body feel tired physically, being active clears his mind of whatever it was that stressed him out. I think it is also important to note here that Timothy not only went running when he felt stressed because it relieved stress well but also to try and create it a healthy habit. Another student, Erica, explained how running helps her in a similar way.

After a good workout and after a great shower, it's like nothing was ever stressed. Like, everything's gone, you're focused only on the run, or whatever you're doing...it's more of, kind of just helps me focus on another situation. Like, man I'm dying on this run...so like, all the stress that I'd given to the pen or to the stress ball goes out like, you can literally feel it lift off like it's much easier and lighter.

Earlier in the interview, Erica explained to me that her coworkers began to notice that she would click her pen more often when she was feeling stressed. Without realizing it at the time, Erica's pen clicking became an idiom of distress that her coworkers picked up on quickly. In response to this, her coworkers provided her with a stress ball to use while she was at work. In the above quote, Erika explains that although the stress ball can help at the time of her stress, running was the most effective way of relieving that stress in the long run.

The majority of students who mentioned exercise as a stress reliever also voiced that they usually preferred to go alone. Besides the few students who mentioned participating in yoga classes, many students explained that they would go to the gym by

themselves more often than not, or find trails to run around campus. Frank, a 23-year-old senior explained to me why he preferred doing his resistance training alone.

I just go to the gym and sometimes I go with my roommate. If I'm very stressed out then I like to go alone, just to get some time alone and listen to music and not really talk to anybody but just kind of work on my own work out. Just get some alone time and think about things and relieve some stress that way.

When I asked Frank if he worked out on campus he told me that he found a gym off campus. He told me that he prefers this than working out on campus because it "it gives [him] a chance to see other people than the students [he sees] every day. So, it gives [him] a better get-away scene." Other students also talked about running on campus or on trails throughout the city. Many found this more relaxing.

A few other students felt that exercises like walking or yoga are effective ways of relieving their stress. One student, Bethany, told me that she started participating in hot yoga classes about 3 months before her interview with me. She had driven by the studio many times and finally decided to look into classes. Bethany explained to me that, although it is just a temporary fix to stress, the hot yoga classes really helps her relax.

I started doing hot yoga in April. So, that's been really fun and, you know, we're technology driven so a whole hour and half of stretching and working out in one-hundred-degree weather plus humidity, phone-less, you know. So, that's very mind clearing...it's an hour and a half that I'm not on the grind of homework, you know?...Sweating out all the toxins and stuff. And it's my form of working out so I'm like, okay, I've accomplished a little bit of my goal.

For Bethany, hot yoga acted to relieve her stress in two different ways. The first was clearing her mind of the stressor, and the second was to help her feel a little bit more accomplished throughout her day. This can be a really important positive mindset to have when dealing with different levels of stress day to day. Another male student, Sean, said

that he also turns to yoga for stress relief. However, he has been using this technique to manage his stress for some time now and explained the positive effects he feels from practicing yoga.

I guess I've kind of always been interested in it. My mom's pretty religious and so I've kind of been interested in the deep breathing aspect of it. And also, the stretching to relieve soreness after exercising so, kind of always been a thing that I've kind of been into.

Many of these students who found exercise to be a good way to relieve their stress explained it as a way to distance themselves from the norm in their lives. By getting away from the normal routine of classes, students are able to place themselves in an environment that is distant from the source of the stress and it gives them a respite from their stress when they don't have to think about it.

Talking with Friends and Family

The second most common stress reliever among the 20 students that I interviewed was talking or spending time with friends and family members. A total of 7 students revealed to me that when they felt very stressed out they sometimes called someone close to them on the phone, or they would spend time with friends. In each of these situations, students felt that this helped them talk through their stressor or take their mind off of it. In terms of hanging out with friends, students talked about spending time indoors watching movies, or things like going out to eat or drink. Although these 7 students spent time doing a variety of activities, they all felt that talking or spending time with people that were close to them helped to relieve their stress.

When I asked Shelby what she did to help relieve her stress she responded right away that she just talked about it. Although there were other stress management techniques that she used, this was the first that she mentioned.

I just talk. I remember I was taking my license test, my driver's license test, and I was extremely stressed...and I had the best person ever because she just talked to me the whole time I was taking my license exam. And I passed! So, it's just talking. Just having a conversation with someone. Whether it's about what's stressing me out, that helps a lot.

For Shelby, it didn't matter who she talked to, it was just the act of talking that allowed her to feel less stressed. For other individuals they specified spending time specifically with friends. An example of this is Zach. He told me about a variety of different activities and methods that he used to help relieve his stress. However, he told me that spending time with friends is usually his first choice.

Mostly though I just hang out with my friends...I would say hanging out with my friends is pretty good because it takes my mind off of work, it gives me other things to focus on. Less practical I suppose, more social, but I enjoy their company. There's lots of intellectual discussions, I'm still active, we're going out and doing things. So, that's a pretty good one.

Another student, Elizabeth, also felt that spending time with her friends was one of the main ways that she tried to relieve her stress. However, she specified that she and her friends usually went out somewhere to drink in order to relieve stress.

Whenever I'm super stressed out, I won't do the things that I need to do and I'll just go and call a friend and like, hang out with them. And then we'll probably drink. And then we'll just get, if they're having a bad day too, you just get twice as drunk as you need to get. And we'll smoke cigarettes a lot. And we'll just end up inviting people over and just doing something really big just cause we're all super stressed out and need a stress reliever. Like, a night to just have fun and just deal with it tomorrow.

Elizabeth focused on the activities that she and her friends did when they were all feeling stressed out as a group. She continued to explain to me that by spending time with friends it gave her some time off so she could just have fun and not have to think about anything else.

The other students who mentioned spending time with someone as a stress management technique also mentioned going out with friends and drinking, just getting together with friends and smoking cigarettes, and others simply just spent time together watching movies or things like that. The few students who also mentioned talking on the phone with friends or family usually referred to calling a parent, sibling, grandparent, or their significant other. In some cases they would combine a phone call with things like going for a walk or a drive. However, it was the act of talking with someone close to them about the stressor or even something completely different that allowed the student to feel more relaxed.

There were several other techniques discussed by students as well. However, the rest were only mentioned by two or three students throughout all 20 interviews and did not present any particular pattern. These different stress management techniques include listening to music, playing video games, reading, watching Netflix, stress eating, taking a nap, or just putting everything else aside and tackling the stressor head on.

Gender Differences

Of the 13 students who talked about using some form of exercise as a stress reliever, 8 of them were male and 5 of them were female. Although there were a slightly higher number of males, there did not appear to be any drastic gender differences. Of the 7 students who mentioned talking or spending time with someone, 5 of them were female

and only 2 were male. This could mean that females tend to like to talk about their stress with someone more often than males. However, the difference is not very large and a larger sample size would be needed to determine if this is a trend.

Although exercising and spending time with friends and family are two very different ways of relieving stress, these students used both techniques in order to separate themselves from a stressful environment. It was important to them to participate in something that was able to take their mind off of whatever was causing them stress at the time.

Focus Group Results: Stress Management

Just as I asked students to write down what came to mind when I said the word 'stress', I also asked them to do the same thing when I said the phrase 'stress management'. When they were done writing their thoughts on sticky notes I asked them to put all of the words and phrases into groups and title them. This time the students created categories including "sleep", "escape", "social life", "scheduling", and "stress relief/health". Breaking these categories down, "sleep" included words such as "relax" or "sleeping". "Escape" consisted of things like "Netflix", "habits", and "finding a happy place". "Social life" included things like "friends", "going out" and "talking to someone". The students put words like "anxiety", "calendar", "planners", "planning", and "to-do list" under the category "scheduling". The last category was "stress relief/health" and included things like "working out" and "exercise".

There was also some obvious overlap in topics that the students in the focus group brought up and the individual interviews. The five students in the focus group stated that their main stress management techniques included relaxing by using things such as a

facemask, running, taking a nap, watching Netflix or Hulu, rewarding themselves with TV or other hobbies, and listening to music. A lot of these topics were also mentioned in the individual interviews concerning what students felt helped them to relieve their stress. However, minor contradictions emerged in the individual interviews including students saying social life was a stressor. The students in the focus group considered social life as a way to relieve stress. Even though there were varying responses from the students in the focus group, they did seem to experience a lot of the same stress management techniques as the students individually interviewed.

V. KNOWLEDGE AND USE OF CAMPUS RESOURCES

Individual Interview Results

After getting a better understanding of how undergraduate students at Texas State University experienced stress overall, I wanted to learn more about their knowledge of the programs and resources offered to them on campus. Through the Texas State Counseling center, there are many online resources available to students that offer help with stress management. These resources include lists of common physical and psychological symptoms of stress to watch out for, tips for managing stress (including physical, behavioral, emotional, cognitive, and help-seeking), and a stress relief technology program called EmWave which helps students try to better balance their emotions, mind, and body (TXST website). Besides these specific stress management resources, there are many other resources offered on campus, such as activities throughout the semester and the recreation center where there is a large variety of gym equipment available for students who want to work out or play sports. During the interview I asked open ended-questions to allow for unanticipated resources that students' may have used to help with their stress management.

Towards the end of each interview, and focus group, I asked the students about their knowledge and use of the campus programs and resources. Overall, six of the 20 students interviewed had no knowledge of any resource available to them on campus for stress management. Another 10 of the 20 students stated that they knew there were some resources available to help with stress but never looked into them or used any of them. Only four out of the 20 students that were interviewed said that they had used some sort of help from the university to help manage their stress. All four of these students had

used the counseling services offered on campus but only one of them had heard of Emwave or any of the other online resources offered by Texas State University.

Of the six students who reported having no knowledge of campus resources, four were male and two were female. As I spoke with them about campus resources, 4 out of the 6 students explained that the only resource that they knew of was when the university brought puppies to the library during finals week. Otherwise, these six students did not know that university offered other types of resources for helping with stress and stress management. Many of these six students replied that they never saw advertisements for any type of stress management resource. I asked each student if they had seen more advertisement for these types of programs, would it be something they would like to participate in. This generated a variety of responses from the students.

When I asked Frank, a senior, if he would be interested in using more resources on campus to help with stress management he replied that he probably would not.

Compared to the other students who replied that they had no knowledge of the resources, Frank explained in a little bit more detail why he wasn't interested in seeking help.

I've actually never heard of any of those. But, I usually keep my stress level pretty maintained, where I'm sure those might be helpful and it would definitely be something to look into but, for now I feel like I have it under control. So, it's definitely not something I've participated in thus far...honestly it probably wouldn't be something I would attend. Like I said, just talking about everything going on makes things more stressful. I'd rather just keep it to myself and just get it done. But I feel that advertising would encourage it more just because there are a few of those that I've never even heard of. So, I feel like advertisement would improve the opportunity of attending one of those.

For Frank, he felt that he was able to manage his stress on his own. However, he did admit that talking about stress with someone would make the situation more stressful for him.

Elizabeth, a transfer student and a junior, said that she wasn't sure if she would use any of the resources offered if she had known about them. When I asked her why she explained, "I feel like I don't want to have to go see a counselor and stuff. I feel like it would just add to the list of stuff I have to do anyways." For Elizabeth, it was the time it took to participate along with worrying about how to get to campus without a vehicle that deterred her from looking into any of the programs or resources available to her.

The majority of the students who had no knowledge of the resources offered on campus did not express any sort of interest in finding out more about them or wanting to participate. For those few students who did go into more detail, it was clear that they either felt that they already had control of their stress management, or that they could not justify spending time doing anything besides the work they had for their classes.

The 4 students who had experience using resources or programs for stress management offered by Texas State University were female. The main resource used among these 4 students was the counseling center. They had all at some point attended scheduled appointments or group counseling with a counselor. However, only 1 of these 4 students was still attending these appointments at the time of her interview. The other 3 students were no longer using the counseling services.

Nicole was the only student that I interviewed that was still using a resource offered by the university to help her manage her stress. She explained to me that she was attending bi-weekly counseling appointments and that these were "an opportunity for

[her] to unload and then to get some feedback on things [she] could be doing better".

Nicole told me that she was very open to feedback about how she was handling the stressful aspects of her life. However, she continued to explain to me further the aspect of the health services on campus that she did not like.

And I've gone to the Student Health Center and they make you fill out this form like, hey fill this out so we can get ideas about your anxiety and depression levels and then they called me back like, hey we're severely concerned, please come back in for a consultation. I had a consultation and they want to have another appointment with me but I can't afford this and my dad would flip out if he knew. So, I'm not going to be able to pursue that because, unfortunately, while there are great resources for people who are not, you know, just people who do not have the best finances, there's not exactly much that the campus provides for students with kind of problematic relationship with, you know, abusive parents who will withhold your ability to get medical care and stuff out of spite. So, there's not much I can do about that.

Nicole spoke a lot about her personal situation with her family and how this impacted her experience with stress on campus. She expressed interest in other types of support groups on campus but felt that she just did not have the time to participate with everything else she needed to get done for classes. Nicole's case may be more extreme than other students. However, by talking with her one-on-one it is very clear that she feel very limited in her ability to get the help that she feels she needs. Although she is still taking advantage of some resources offered on campus, she does not necessarily feel that there is enough help for her specific needs. When I asked Nicole if she still felt that the biweekly counseling was helping she replied, "Definitely helping in a positive way. Not much progress is being made. Very minimal. But progress is progress. Sometimes it's just nice to have someone whose job it is to just listen to you. Because I do feel guilty about unloading stress onto others." Feeling guilty about unloading stress onto other

individuals, such as friends, adds another layer of difficulty for students, like Nicole, who are searching for a way to relive their stress.

The other 3 female students that had previously participated in the counseling services offered on campus were no longer using them at the time of the interview. When I asked them about their experience using this resource and why they were no longer using it I received a variety of answers. Bethany, a 21-year-old senior, told me that she had participated in a grief counseling group on campus while she was coping with her grandfather becoming ill and eventually passing away. She was the only student who had heard of any of the other stress management services, such as one called How to DEAL, a presentation program to help students deal with different situations throughout life. When I asked Bethany about her experience with these resources she explained,

The how to deal with life, I feel that I'm very independent and I can do things myself, you know? And so, I felt like, with all my social science background and stuff, I thought that I had already known what to do...They (the university) gave us a flyer that was like, take a break and it had little pictures and a cute description of what to do, you know. Like, fly a kite, read a book, go to yoga, or you know, stuff like that?...And so, I already felt that like, that was just common sense to me.

Bethany did inform me that the group counseling sessions that she attended had helped her think of things from a new perspective that ultimately benefited her grieving process. However, the above quote illustrates how she felt about the general use of the other campus stress management resources.

Another student, Lindsey, also told me that she had gone to the counseling center before, but only once. I asked her if she thought it helped her and she responded, "Yeah! It was a really good experience, I think. It was just one of those thing where I didn't go back to my other appointment just because I don't like confronting what I'm feeling, I

guess. It's exhausting." This stood out to me as a very important aspect of my interview with Lindsey, and with a few other students as well. Although she felt that she had a good experience talking with a counselor, her uneasiness about confronting her own feelings kept her from ever going back for more help. This presents an important aspect of how undergraduate students are handling stress that needs to be considered when designing programs and resources meant for stress management.

Norah, a 21-year-old senior, was the fourth student that had experience using a campus resource to help with her stress management. She told me that she had also been attending the bi-weekly counseling services. However, when I asked her if that helped her she explained, "I love the counselor that I got to see, she was great herself. But just how the resources were offered, it was helpful, but it wasn't enough. It was enough help for what I needed then". I asked Norah for an example of what she meant by "it was not enough help for what she needed". She said,

I wasn't seeing a therapist as frequently as I need. Like, two weeks is a long time for someone who's like, trying to rewire their brain and process things that have happened to them. And they can't even get to some people even twice a week you know?

All three of the female students who were no longer using the campus resources for stress management felt that it had helped them in the past. However, each student had a different reason for not attending anymore. This can make it more difficult when trying to make these services helpful for students experiencing a number of different stressors. However, it is this type of information that is so important to consider when trying to encourage students to get help with their stress.

The remaining 10 students, 6 males and 4 females, all had some knowledge pertaining to the different resources that Texas State University provides for help with

stress and stress management. However, not one of these students ever used the resources available to them and many expressed no interest. The most common reason for not wanting to participate was wanting to handle stress alone and not ask for help. This was mentioned by 7 of these 10 students. However, they all presented this answer from a slightly different perspective. Following are some examples of why these students did not feel the need to reach out for help.

Zach and Seth both talked about the different between being on campus and being at home. For these two students, campus was a place where they were able to work on studying and assignments, but beyond that they did not want to stay on campus if it wasn't needed or planned. Zach, who spoke a lot about working better under pressure, explained that his stress management takes place when he gets home. He stated:

I've probably seen some presentations or something that were given in the engineering department about stress. But that was not really a choice. That was because it was given in a class. If it's got anything to do with campus I'm here because I'm working. Any of my stress management and pretty much all of my stress management is done at home. I'm going to relax as far away from anything with the Texas State logo as possible.

It was easy to see that Zach is very adamant about not participating in anything that is offered through the university to help with stress. The only thing associated with campus for him is schoolwork and studying. He even continued to tell me why he has always felt this way saying, "Pretty much everything I've done has been by myself. I don't really get involved in organizations, especially if they've got stress in the title or something." Zach told me that everyone experiences stress in their own way and has their own way of coping with that. Therefore, he claimed that the idea of a single program out there to help students with stress did not make sense. He felt that dealing with stress is an individual

process and is up to each student on their own. Seth did not necessarily feel as strongly as Zach did about campus resources and programs. However, he did express that once he was done with school he did not want to be on campus anymore and just wanted to go home

The 5 other students who talked about not wanting to ask for help consisted of 4 males and one female student. Each of them indicated they would rather handle stress on their own and did not want ask for help. For example, Brian said, "I've always kind of been the person that, I don't really seek help when I should probably ask for it. But that's also just because I feel like, with the way I've been brought up, life is never really that bad. You can get through things." He told me that because of this he has always felt as though he was an independent person and never found a need to participate in any programs or resources for stress management.

The other 4 students did not have a lot to say but responded similarly. Jared explained, "I like to do stuff on my own. I like to be independent." Sean responded similarly by stating, "I feel like I kind of have a handle on my own stress and I kind of have figured out how I operate myself." However, Paul brought up a more personal point of view when I asked him what his reason was for not using any type of campus resource. He stated, "I don't know. I guess it's some ego thing. It's like, I don't need to admit I need help with anything." When I asked Sarah why she did not participate she explained that she used to say it was because she did not have enough time. However, she said, "now that I'm talking about it I think it was just because I didn't want to put myself in that situation of just like, having to discuss it with people that I didn't really know." These last two quotes bring up an important aspect of why many of these students may not want to

ask for help. The other responses regarding doing things alone or wanting to be independent can result from transitioning through the emerging adult phase of life. As students are transitioning from parents homes to being on their own, it may be more difficult to admit needing help or even knowing who to turn to. This is another extremely important aspect of students' experience with stress to consider when trying to implement programs and other types of resources on campus.

The other 3 students that had some knowledge of the resources available but chose not to use them attributed their choice to factors such as, not being able to fit it into their busy schedule and not feeling like it was needed but knew they were there if things got worse. For one student, she only saw advertisement for stress management during finals, which was not one of her major stressors. From all of this data it is clear that there are a lot of students that either know nothing about the programs and resources offered through Texas State University for stress management, or that have knowledge but purposely choose not to use them. These are areas that may need more research in the future to determine what could help the university reach more students with their advertisements and what could make more students feel comfortable reaching out for help.

Focus Group Results

When I asked the students in my focus group if they used any type of resource on campus to help with stress management they only mentioned using the Student Recreation Center and the Student Support Services where they took part in tutoring sessions over the summer. The two students who told me that they had used the tutoring resources both felt that it had helped them a lot while they were trying to manage their

summer classes. The majority of the students agreed that using the recreation center was helpful because they liked to use running or other types of exercise to help them relieve stress.

Towards the end of the focus group, I informed the participants that my analysis of the individual interviews that I conducted showed that many students were not aware of the programs and resources offered on campus and several did not show any interest in participating in anything. I asked the focus group participants what they thought about this. Their responses included comments such as, it is "weird to go up to random people saying oh I'm stressed will you help me"; it was "out of [their] way" during their day to day schedules; "people who have stress think that it won't last long"; or many students believe that they "can do this (handle stress) by themselves". Many of these comments made by the students in my focus group are very similar to the results from my individual interviews with students. Even when discussing the topic of stress management with each other, the students seemed to feel that it was uncomfortable to reach out and ask for help from any type of resource on campus.

VI. STRESS NARRATIVES

During each interview, I asked every student if they could tell me of a time recently when they felt stressed out and what that experience was like for them. The goal with this was to elicit a story, or narrative, from each student. Thinking back to Mattingly and Garro, they stated that the narrative theory is "a fundamental human way to give meanings to experience" (2000). During each student's story I asked them questions about different aspects of their stressful experience, such as "what stresses you out", "how do you experience stress physically and psychologically", and "how do you deal with and relieve your stress". Although I had already gathered information from each student regarding these general aspects of their experience with stress and stress management, obtaining a story of a specific stressful time allowed me to see how each student communicated their full experience of stress, from what they identified as their major stressors, to how they experienced it and ultimately managed it. For example, I looked for things such as differences and similarities between their story and the aspects of their experiences that they discussed earlier in the interview. Along with this, I looked for moments during their story when they interacted with others and what those interactions said about how they identified themselves in terms of the stressor and relieving that stress in the end. As I discussed earlier, Bucholtz and Hall (2005) provided five main categories of studying identity: emergence, positionality, indexcality, relationality, and partialness. Keeping these in mind I was able to analyze the narrative provided by each student and look for themes in regards to how they formed their identity in their mind and if that identity changed from earlier in the interview. The following are

examples of these stories, or narratives, provided by the one-on-one interviews I conducted.

From the 20 interviews that I conducted I received a wide variety of narratives, or stories, regarding a recent stressful experience. Each student talked about an experience involving either his or her finances, schoolwork or tests, issues with family members, work, or their social life. These were the only five categories that were discussed by the students. Schoolwork and exams were the most common focus of these. This was mentioned by 12 of the 20 students interviewed. The next most common topic was finances, which was mentioned by five different students. Family was mentioned four times, work three times, and social life only twice. A different student mentioned the last three topics each time.

The reason that all of these topics were mentioned more often (26 times) than the total number of interviews is a result of some students mentioning multiple stressors throughout their story. For example, Lindsey explained that one recent experience that stuck out in her mind was not being able to afford a textbook which led to her running out of time to complete a school assignment. Although her stress had started with not having enough money, she ultimately experienced stress from trying to complete her homework on time as well. Another student, Seth, told me that the original stressor in his story was his family's finances. He and his wife were denied health insurance and were struggling with other finances in regards to their young daughter. However, when he got home the stress started increasing because of disagreements with his wife. Seth felt like they were getting nowhere and ultimately felt an increase of stress because they were not getting

along at the moment. Including these two examples, 6 of the 20 students interviewed told a recent story that had more than one stressor.

As mentioned before, school was the most common topic for the students' narratives. Among the 12 stories that included school as a stressor, students talked about being worried about an exam, feeling overwhelmed from the amount of work they had to complete, papers that they had to write, or even certain assignments such as giving a speech in class. One student, Bethany, told me that the week before her interview with me had been "very overwhelming". She explained to me that she "always [seemed] to be one assignment behind" in one of her classes and on top of that she had two tests and a paper due in the same week. As Bethany continued her story of what that week was like for her she explained that when she realized how much she had to do throughout the week the first thing she did was turn on a show on Netflix. She followed this up by stating, "and then of course after the episode's done I'm scrambling even faster to start" getting her schoolwork done. For Bethany, she felt so overwhelmed by the amount of work she had to get done and the feeling of being behind in a class that her first reaction was to avoid her work by watching TV.

Another student, Emily, told me the story about how stressed she became when she found out that she had to give a speech in one of her classes. She told me that from the moment she read the assignment on the syllabus at the beginning of the semester she felt stressed about it and that stress only continued to build as it got closer to the date of her speech. Emily told me "public speaking is actually one of my biggest fears ever...it always has been. So that was extremely stressful". She continued to explain to me how she coped with it saying, "as it got closer, I think I just started putting it off and...I didn't

want to stress myself out and so I wasn't thinking about it and I was doing other things to distract myself." Just like in the previous example with Bethany, Emily's first reaction after feeling extreme stress was to distract herself from the situation with other things and not think about it. However, she told me that she "put it off until the night before and that's when [she] was stressing about it." Both of these examples show that both Emily and Bethany's reaction to their stress was to procrastinate and not do the work that needed to be done until the last minute. Ultimately, this caused even more stress for the both of them.

Other narratives regarding schoolwork included topics like getting a bad grade on an exam. Tyler used an example from just a few days before his interview took place. He said, "I got my calculus exam back and I didn't do very well on it. And after going through it I was like, I made the dumbest mistakes you could ever make and it was just, I guess it was under the stress of taking the test, made me do poorly." For Tyler, his stress started immediately after he saw his test score. He said he began to feel pressure in his head and began looking at his other grades to help relieve stress. However, this only increased his stress level in the end.

Finances were one of the biggest stressors in 5 of the student's narratives. A couple of these students talked about the stress of having enough money to pay rent or bills on time. Elizabeth, for example, chose to tell me about the day before her interview when she realized that she was extremely low on money and her rent was due soon. She told me that she was in class when she was thinking about her finances and she said "I just looked up and I was like oh my gosh, and my heart started beating really fast and I thought I was going to throw up. Cause when I get really stressed out I get panic attacks."

For Elizabeth, her extreme stress started in the middle of class. When I asked her what she did after she started feeling sick she explained, "I had to not think about it. I went on my phone, I don't know if you've ever played those games on imessage...well it's like these games and I started one with my brother...or I texted my mom too and my dad...just trying to get my mind off of it." Other students talked about moments where they had an unexpected cost that made a particular week or month extremely stressful. For example, Brian told me that he had found a dog while out on a hike one day. Before he was able to find a home for the dog, it had destroyed things around his apartment requiring him to not only fix up the apartment, including repainting, but also pay for the repairs. The other big stressor in Brian's story is that he had to wait for his financial aid to come through, which put him in a tough position after having to unexpectedly pay for repairs to his apartment. He explained, "Looking forward it's dealing with financial aid. Knowing that it's not gonna come until September 6th when I literally need it August 24th." Whether it was payments for school or personal expenses such as rent, all 5 of these students talked about moments where they felt like they did not have enough money to get through the next week or month without going broke.

The last three topics were only mentioned a few times. These included issues with family, work, or social life. The 4 students who brought up family talked about one specific encounter or argument with a family member that caused their stress levels to rise in that moment. The three students who told me a story about a time at work all had very different reasons as to why it was stressful for them. Erica, for example, had an unfortunate situation at work with an individual who had called in for help. When the call was dropped and she did not have a call back number she immediately felt her stress

levels raise and knew there was nothing she could do. Erica told me, "that's one of the nights that I stayed up...so many things just went through my mind and it was just hard to focus on anything." Although it was nothing Erica did wrong, she felt partially responsible and could not stop thinking about how things could have been handled differently. The other two students, Jared and Kate, had yet other experiences at work that they chose to tell me about in their narratives. Jared's example was a time when some of his shifts had been cut. He explained that he had seen the new schedule posted at work and "[felt] like [he] wasn't being given a good shot at getting more hours and that was pretty stressful." In Kate's situation, she had returned to work after taking an exam and found herself in a heated argument with her boss and another employee. When she returned to work after her exam, she was disappointed that no work had been done while she was gone. That's when things started to get stressful as she explained to me, "they just think that I'm gonna do everything... I started going on and on and I was like I can't do this anymore...I can't. I'm so sorry but I can't...This lady over here, she's just been watching Netflix. I was like, I need you to put her to work." For Kate, she felt that all of the work was being put on her shoulders and with having to balance work and school, it was just becoming too overwhelming.

The last topic was social life and was only mentioned by two students, although their stories were drastically different. Shelby told me about a time where she had been exhausted from a busy week of school and tried to make plans to watch a movie with her boyfriend one night. However, her roommate and other friends began to disrupt her relaxing night by inviting people over. After being so overwhelmed by the week leading up to this point, she felt an immediate increased level of stress from her friends and their

plans. The other student, Paul, had a drastically different experience with his friends. He described to me a recent time when he had hung out with a group of friends that had influenced him to take part in doing drugs. He told me that after that time with friends he slept in the next day and "definitely didn't" talk with anybody about what had happened. He told me that "[he'll] never talk about that type of stuff" with other people because he knew it was a poor way to handle his stress.

All of these narratives show a variety of situations where students recently felt a higher-than-average level of stress. Also, almost all of the students said that they felt the same physical and psychological symptoms in these moments that they had told me about earlier in their interview. However, after hearing all of these different stories from each of the 20 students interviewed, one theme seemed to stand out to me the most. Although some students used one of their previously mentioned stress management techniques, more than half of the students explained to me that they wanted to simply remove themselves from the stressful situation or just be alone. A total of 13 students expressed this in their narrative. This can be seen in a couple of the examples that were given earlier. However, several other students either told me specifically that they wanted to be alone or as they explained how they tried relieving their stress it was quite clear that they were trying to remove themselves from the situation. Throughout each narrative, students tended to view themselves as protagonists who were generally vulnerable and dealing with situations completely out of their control. These patterns that emerged allowed me to use the narratives from each student to better understand how these students created their identity around their stress. The following are some examples from the students' narratives.

Seth, mentioned earlier, continued to tell me about the stressful situation with his wife when he came home one day. He explained to me what that feeling was like and how he eventually was able to manage his rising stress levels.

It's just, you know, very, very stressful, and so I use my techniques and it's decent, but then I come home and my wife's stressed out and then it's just, I can't calm down because it's just stress, in a stressful situation...and there's really nothing you can do about it and it's annoying...I tried to put on a front like, you know, be happy, umm, you know I was, oh I guess what it was is I came home and we just got a piece of mail saying that we didn't get our insurance, we got denied. So, very, very stressful. Umm, and then let's see what I did, I think I suggested my wife and my daughter go swimming just to relax and go have fun....I think I learned this technique from my father, who's a business manager, and it goes back to the, you know, trying to get them away. Umm, not just from me, I mean, just from the situation. I think that's a really good technique...and eventually we went in separate rooms or something and just, you know, everyone calmed down. But, I think separation, alone time or, you know, just your mind away from the stress.

For Seth, he only started to feel better once he was removed completely from the situation. Even before he, his wife, and their daughter went into separate rooms he was suggesting things for his family to go do without him so that he would not be in that stressful situation anymore or around the people that he was in disagreement with.

Another really clear example of this idea of wanting to remove oneself from the stressful situation is Lindsey. She was also brought up earlier as an example of a student whose narrative consisted of a combination of school and financial stress. Lindsey could not afford a textbook, which was limiting her time to finish an assignment for that class. She continued to tell me about her experience from the moment she felt her stress rising through finding out that her boyfriend had put money in her account to help her purchase the book.

It's been that point of the summer where I'm just waiting for my financial aid day to come in so I can pay for my summer classes. So, it's like, I've got like ten dollars in my bank account and umm, it was a couple weeks ago where I was just stressed to the point of just crying when I was with my boyfriend. And I didn't have money to pay for this textbook that I needed for class. And I had an assignment due for the textbook and I was just, pretty much shut down. I mean, I remember I just started getting my things and I wanted to go home cause I just wanted to just kind of, just be on the road, be back at my apartment where I just like, freak out by myself. And umm, it was just one of those things where stress, that stress of not being able to get the textbook made me just want to kind of run away from the situation and completely, even though the situation was [not in San Marcos], I just wanted to be by myself. But, when I was getting my things together, my boyfriend actually came in and he told me that he transferred money to my bank account, which was two hundred dollars, so I could buy my books for class, which stressed me out even more because I was like, how am I gonna pay him back? Which, of course, he told me not to but, I think that was just one of the most recent situations where I was just really stressed out trying to figure out how I'm gonna get this book.

When I asked Lindsey about how she was feeling physically and psychologically in that moment she explained that she experienced "obsessive thinking that kind of just made [her] shut down completely and [she] just wanted to leave." She admitted to me that she knew in reality even if she left the situation immediately she still would not have the money to pay for her textbook. It was difficult for Lindsey to know exactly how to handle that feeling of wanting to run away or just remove herself from the physical place that she initially started feeling her stress level rise.

Other students did not necessarily talk about wanting to get away openly like the examples of Seth and Lindsey's narrative. However, it was clear in their story that they removed themselves from the situation by doing something else alone. For example,

Jared was telling me about how he felt when he realized his hours were cut drastically at work.

It was pretty stressful. I was pretty upset because of the fact I wanted more hours and I feel like I wasn't being given a good shot at getting more hours and that was pretty stressful. I mean, my body started shaking a bit and my mind was just out of place. One thing I did after I got off work, I took a drive down to New Braunfels and drove around listening to country music, since I like country music...[the stress] started to go down a bit because I was listening to music I love but also I was looking at some beautiful parts of New Braunfels that I hadn't seen before cause New Braunfels is beautiful since it's very foresty like and it's surrounded by hill country. So, it's just beautiful to drive out there.

Jared did not saying anything specific about wanting to be alone or get away from the situation. However, as he explained to me how he tried to relieve his stress that is exactly what he did. After becoming so stressed about the new schedule at work he got in his car and drove away from the situation. By getting away from the physical location of where his stress started, and doing so alone, he was finally able to feel his stress level begin to decrease.

Thinking back to Bucholtz and Hall, they stated that one aspect of identity is to understand that the ideological structures of one's identity are often rooted in cultural beliefs and values (2005). This principle of identity (indexicality) by Bucholtz and Hall stands out to me the most when looking at how students tried to remove themselves from the stressful situations in their narratives. It may be important to combine this finding with why many of the students felt that they did not want to use any programs or resources on campus to help with their stress management. Referring back to when I asked students about their knowledge of resources on campus, many students talked about not wanting to share their stress with someone, especially a stranger, or admit that

they needed help dealing with stress. The idea that more than half of these students ended up dealing with their stress on their own during their narratives leads me to the conclusion that this is linked to not wanting to admit that they are stressed or reach out for help. By handling the situation on their own, students may feel that this portrays a stronger, more independent identity versus someone who needs to depend on someone, or something else, to help lower their stress levels. It may be that, the act of reaching out for help makes one feel as though they are not succeeding as well as they should be on their own.

This idea of wanting to handle stress alone could be associated with the cultural stigma surrounding any type of mental illness and the idea of receiving any type of help. Stigma surrounding anything involves the "signals leading to cognitive stereotypes that lead to employing discriminatory practices" (Corrigan 2005). Although none of the students I interviewed talked about having any serious mental illnesses, a few of them did mention that they had either taken part in counseling or were at one time taking something for depression or anxiety. However, a couple of these same students did not show any interest, at the time of their interview with me, in getting help or reaching out to anyone, even a friend or family member to talk about their stress. This is an important aspect to consider when providing students with resources on campus to help with stress management. Even if the resources are not associated with the counseling center, if it is associated with stress and stress management at all, that may turn students away from participating. This stigma of stress and mental health issues may not just surround serious depression or anxiety, but it could also surround the terminology associated with general stress and stress management. In the end, this may have an affect on why many of the

students interviewed in this study removed themselves from the stressful situation at hand and tried to relieve their stress on their own.

VII. DISCUSSION AND SUGGESTIONS

The time that I spent talking with undergraduate students at Texas State

University provided a lot of rich data regarding their total experience of stress. Overall,
most of the students reported stress stemming from school-related areas of their lives
including schoolwork, exams, and time management. The other major stressor that was
found among the students I interviewed was finances, including both paying for tuition,
other school costs, and personal expenses like rent, bills, and food. Although there are
quite a few areas of students' personal lives that do add to their stress as well, most of it
comes from the new aspects of their life since they began college.

Although the majority of the students that I interviewed talked about their stress coming from school, this does not mean that Texas State University is causing more stress for their students than other universities. Some stress from school is expected, especially during a student's initial transition into college at such a young age. However, students at Texas State University are not receiving the full effects of the programs and resources that the university has carefully designed to positively influence students' college experience. To be clear, this does not mean that the university is doing anything wrong or not doing enough for the students. From the information that I gathered from the students in this research, the main reason that they are not using more of the resources available to them is because of a feeling of wanting to handle stressful situations on their own. For some students, this may be the best way to relieve their stress. However, many students are still struggling handling stress on their own and for some reason, do not feel comfortable reaching out and asking for help.

In general, the transition into emerging adulthood and college for the majority of the students that I spoke with was relatively normal according to what many people expect to experience. Students talked about the excitement of becoming more independent, having more freedom to do what they wanted when they wanted to, and even the more stressful aspects like taking on more responsibilities than they previously had when they were living at home. However, with the majority of the students that I interviewed being upperclassmen, this shows that some students are continuing to struggle with these transitional stressors not just when they enter college as a freshman, but throughout the duration of their college career.

Texas State University offers a few programs that are related directly to stress. However, the university also offers many different types of resources, not directly related to stress relief, which could ultimately help students relieve stress by participating. An example of this would be the recreation center located on campus or other clubs and organizations that are available to all students. The university does not lack in the amount of resources that they offer for their students. However, 50% of the students that I interviewed have some knowledge of the resources available to them but do not show an interest in becoming involved.

Many students seemed to not want to acknowledge that they were feeling stressed, felt that they could handle it on their own, or simply felt uncomfortable talking with someone they did not know. Although this research does not provide clear solutions to this concern, there are a couple areas where the university could refine its approach to help students feel more comfortable.

The first suggestion is to try and adjust the names of some of the programs on campus specifically meant to help with stress management. Some students stated that they try and avoid any program with the word stress, or other associated words, in the title because it causes them to feel more stressed thinking about it. Other students who feel like they may have a handle on their own stress may not be very likely to try a program that specifically talks about helping with stress management. This may link back to the stigma that is associated with stress and mental health. Some of the students who do not want to admit that they are feeling stressed because of how they feel or appear to others are probably not likely to use a program that has stress or other similar words in the title

The second suggestion that developed from my research is to try and find a way to make talking with someone about stress a more comfortable situation. Some students felt that talking with someone at the counseling center was not something that they felt comfortable doing. Although there are some mentoring programs offered through the university, none of the students that I spoke with brought them up. One way to gain more student participation may be to host more off-campus events that could involve some type of mentoring. The analysis of students' narratives showed that many of the students interviewed ended up trying to remove themselves from the stressful situation at hand. With the majority of stress coming from school related topics it may help increase participation in resources if students did not have to meet on campus. A new environment may benefit in relieving some of the stress that they feel on while they are on campus for class.

The research that I presented here gathered a wide variety of data involving what causes stress among undergraduate students, how they are experiencing that stress, and how they are trying to manage their stress levels throughout the school year. However, there are limitations as well. The first limitation was my sample size. Although I did recruit my goal of 20 participants and one focus group, this is a very small sample from a university with 34,206 undergraduate students. Because qualitative data is essentially not representative, drawing a conclusion for this larger population is not possible. Along with this, my sample was not able to provide any information regarding possible differences in handling stress among diverse demographic groups such as ethnicity.

The second limitation of my research was that I was only able to recruit students over the summer months and the first few weeks of the fall semester. There are not as many students that take summer class as there are enrolled during the normal school semesters. Therefore, students that are more highly motivated to take summer classes or that have other personal situations that led them to stay in San Marcos may have dominated my sample. If I were to have conducted the majority of interviews during the fall semester, this may have influenced the data due to possible differences, such as number of classes a student takes or more students living on campus. More research would need to be done in order to determine if this would have an influence on students' stress and stress management.

After analyzing my findings and noting the limitations of my research, it is clear that there is a lot more research that should still be done regarding how undergraduate students experience stress. For Texas State University specifically, it may be beneficial to research a wide variety of resources offered on campus and gather students' thoughts

about what might encourage even more students to participate. It may be very valuable to also conduct more research specifically regarding types of off-campus events or resources that could help students feel as though it is more of an escape from the stressful campus lifestyle. It is important to continue to gather more qualitative data regarding how students are handling their stress over time in order to adjust for changes as well. I strongly suggest that other universities continue to add qualitative data to the quantitative research that has been done regarding students' stressors and stress management technique. Every individual experiences stress differently and it is important to continue updating our knowledge across college campuses so that each university can continue to uniquely help their students have a successful college career.

APPENDIX SECTION

APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW QUESTION GUIDE

- 1. Can you tell me about your transition into college?
- 2. How did you make friends here?
- 3. What, if any, university/community organizations/activities are you involved in?
- 4. Who are the people you turn to for support?
- 5. What are some emotions or feelings that you have been experiencing more often since beginning college?
- 6. As a college student what stresses you out?
- 7. What is your biggest stressor during the school year?
- 8. How often do you feel stressed?
- 9. How do you know that you're feeling stressed?
 - What does is feel like in you body?
 - What happens in your mind?
 - Are there things that you do that let you know that you're stressed?
- 10. When you know you're stressed out, how do you tell someone, like a friend, that you are stressed?
- 11. How do you relieve your stress?
 - How does this work for you?
- 12. How does social media play into stress for you, if at all?
- 13. Can you tell me about a time when you were stressed recently and what that experience was like for you?
- 14. Have you ever participated in any of the stress management programs and services offered through the counseling center or any of the support-empowerment programs through the Office of Student Diversity and Inclusion on campus?
 - For example, How to DEAL: Develop Effective Approaches for Life or EmWave?
- 15. Are there any other programs that you have participated in to help relieve your stress?
- 16. Did you find any particular program or service to be more beneficial then others?

APPENDIX B: FOCUS GROUP QUESTION GUIDE

- 1. What words or phrases come into your mind when I say the word stress?
- 2. What words or phrases come into your mind when I say stress management?
- 3. As college students, what are some things that stress you out?
- 4. Are there certain things that you do or say to indicate to your friends that you are feeling stressed out?
- 5. How do you know when your friend is feeling stressed out?
- 6. Does social media play into your stress?
- 7. How do you and your friends talk about stress?
- 8. Can you tell me about a time when you told a friend you were stressed out recently, or vise versa, and what that experience was like for both of you?
- 9. Have any of you participated in any program, resource, or activity on (or off) campus to help relieve stress? Either individually or with friends?
- 10. Is there any resource that you have used that seemed to work better than others?

REFERENCES CITED

- Arnett J.J. (2012) New Horizons in Research on Emerging and Young Adulthood. In: Booth A., Brown S., Landale N., Manning W., McHale S. (Eds.) *Early Adulthood in a Family Context*. National Symposium on Family Issues, vol 2. New York, NY:Springer.
- Baghurst, T. & Kelley, B.C. (2014). An examination of stress in college students over the course of a semester. *Health Promotion Practice*, 15, 438-447.
- Boehm, C.S. & Kennedy-Phillips, L.C. (2016). Stress management: #too blessed to be stressed. In: Anderson (Ed.) *Wellness Issues for Higher Education: A Guide for Student Affairs and Higher Education Professionals*. Routledge: New York and London.
- Brooks, P.R., Girgenti, A.A., & Mills, M.J. (2009). Sleep patterns and symptoms of depression in college. *Student Journal*, 43.
- Brougham, R. R., Zail, C. M., Mendoza, C. M., & Miller, J. R. (2009). Stress, sex differences, and coping strategies among college students. *Current Psychology: A Journal for Diverse Perspectives on Diverse Psychological Issues*, 28, 85–97.
- Bucholtz, M. & Hall, K. (2005). Identity and interation: a sociocultural linguistic approach. *Discourse Studies*, 7, 585-614.
- Corrigan, P. (2004). How stigma interferes with mental health care. *American Psychologist*, 59, 614–625.
- Doom, J.R. & Haeffel, G.J. (2013). Teasing apart the effects of cognition stress, and depression on health. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 37, 610-619.
- Duan, W., Ho, S.M.Y., Siu, B.P.Y., Li, T., & Zhang, Y. (2015). Role of virtues and perceived life stress in affecting psychological symptoms among Chinese college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 63, 32-39.
- Guo, Y., Wang, S., & Johnson, V. 2011. College students' stress under current economic downturn. *College Student Journal*, 45, 536-543.
- Hubbs, A., Doyle, E.I., Bowden, R.G., & Doyle, R.D. (2012). Relationships among self-esteem, stress, and physical activity in college students. *Psychological Reports*, 110, 469-474.
- King, K.A., Singh, M., Bernard, A., Merianos, A.L., & Vidourek, R.A. (2012). Employing the health belief model to examine stress management among college students. *American Journal of Health Studies*, 27, 192-203.

Laska, M.N., Pasch, K.E., Lust, K., Story, M., & Ehlinger, E. (2009). Latent class analysis of lifestyle characteristics and health risk behaviors among college youth. *Prevention Science*, 10, 376-386.

Lindsey, B.J., Fugere, M., & Chan, V. (2007). Psychological and emotional reactions of college students to september 11, 2001. *College Student Journal*, 41.

Lu, F.J., Hsu, Y., Chan, Y., Cheen, J., & Kao, K. (2012). Assessing college student-athletes' life stress: initial measurement development and validation. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, 16, 254-26.

Mattingly, C. & Garro, L.C. (2000). *Narrative and the cultural construction of illness and healing*. Berkeley and Los Angeles, CA:University of California Press.

Ochs, E. and Capps, L. (2001) *Living Narrative: Creating Lives in Everyday Storytelling*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Peer, J.W., Hillman, S.B., and Van Hoet, E. (2015). The effects of stress on the lives of emerging adult college students: an exploratory analysis. *Adultspan Journal*, 14, 90-99.

Riessman, C.K. (1990). Strategic uses of narrative in the presentation of self and illness: a research note. *Social Science Medicine*, 30, 1195-1200.

Schonfeld, L., Braue, L.A., Stire, S., Gum, A.M., Cross, B.L., & Brown, L.M. (2015). Behavioral health and adjustment to college life for students service members/veterans. *Journal of American College Health*, 63, 428-436.

Texas State University (TXST). (2017). *Facts and Data*. Retrieved from http://www.umarketing.txstate.edu/resources/facts.html

Texas State University (TXST). (2017) *Welcome to the Counseling Center*. Retrieved from http://www.counseling.txstate.edu/

Nichter, M. (2000). Fat talk: what girls and their parents say about dieting. Cambridge, MA:Harvard University Press.

Nichter, M. (2015). Lighting up: the rise of social smoking on college campuses. New York and London: New York University Press.

Smith, T. & Renk, K. (2007). Predictors of academic-related stress in college students: an examination of coping, social support, parenting, and anxiety. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 44, 405-431.

The American College Health Association (ACHA). (2017). *ACHA-National College Health Assessment*. Retrieved from http://www.acha-ncha.org/reports_ACHA-NCHAIIc.html

The American Institute of Stress (AIS). (2017). *What is Stress?* Retrieved from https://www.stress.org/daily-life/

Thiel, K.J. & Dretsch, M.N. (2011). In: Conrad, C.D. (Ed.) *The Handbook of Stress*. United Kingdom: Wiley-Blackwell.

Valerio, T.D., Kim, M.J., & Sexton-Radek, K. (2016). Association of stress, general health, and alcohol use with poor sleep quality among U.S. college students. *American Journal of Health Education*, 47, 17-23.

Vaughn, A.A., Drake, R.R., & Haydock, S. (2015). College student mental health and quality of workplace relationships. *Journal of American College Health*, 64, 26-37.

Weinstein, L. & Laverghetta, A. (2009). College student stress and satisfaction with life. *College Student Journal*, 43.